
 

 
AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Chesterfield City Hall 

690 Chesterfield Parkway West 
Monday, July 15, 2024 

7:00 PM 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Bob Nation 

 

 
 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Mayor Bob Nation   

 

 
 

III. MOMENT OF SILENT PRAYER – Mayor Bob Nation  

 

 
 

IV. ROLL CALL – City Clerk Vickie McGownd 

 
 
 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Mayor Bob Nation  

 
A. Executive Session Minutes – June 17, 2024 

 

B. City Council Meeting Minutes – June 17, 2024 
 

VI. INTRODUCTORY REMARKS – Mayor Bob Nation 

  
A. Thursday, July 18, 2024 – Planning & Public Works (5:30pm) 

 

B. Tuesday, July 23, 2024 – Finance 105 (6:00pm) 
 

C. Monday, August 5, 2024 – City Council (7:00pm) 

 

VII. COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS – Mayor Bob Nation 

 

A. Proclamation – Cicardi A. Bruce Jr. 
 

VIII. APPOINTMENTS – Mayor Bob Nation 

 



 

 
 

IX. COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
A. Planning and Public Works Committee – Chairperson Dan Hurt, Ward 

III 

 
1. Proposed Bill No. 3510 –  04-2024 The Smokehouse:   

An  ordinance  repealing  City  of  Chesterfield  ordinance  2125  to  amend  
the  legal description and the development criteria for an existing “C8” 
Planned Commercial District located on the south side of Chesterfield Airport 
Road and west of Baxter Road. (17T240201,  17T240199).  (First  Reading)  
Planning  Commission  recommends approval. Planning & Public Works 
Committee recommends approval.    

2. FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd): A request for a new 
Facilities Siting Permit to install a new cell pole and accompanying 
infrastructure and a new power pole with transformer located in the City of 
Chesterfield right-of-way at the Dierbergs Meditation Park at the northwest 
intersection of Olive Boulevard and River Valley Drive (Ward 1). Planning & 
Public Works Committee recommends approval.   (Voice Vote) 

 

3. Next Meeting – July 18, 2024 
 

B. Finance and Administration Committee – Chairperson Barb 

McGuinness, Ward I 
 

1. Insurance Damage Settlement:  The Finance and Administration 
Committee unanimously endorsed depositing  the $831,807 in net 
positive insurance revenue, and reserved to satisfy future insurance 

deductibles, repairs and or replacements where it is undesirable to file 
a claim.  Managing the unspent insurance proceeds in this manner will 
fund insurance deductibles for a number of years, provide for reduced 

claim submissions, and result in more accurate and reduced annual 
budgets.   (Roll Call vote) 

 
2. Repeal City Council Policy PDS No.1 – Chesterfield Historic and 

Landmark Preservation Committee:  The Finance and Administration 

Committee unanimously recommends the repeal of Planning Policy #1, 
which would effectively dissolve the CHLPC as a Citizen’s Advisory 

Committee.  The Committee also unanimously endorsed passage of a 
proposed ordinance to transfer the regulatory responsibilities to the 
ARB.  This proposed ordinance has been forwarded to the Planning 

Commission for action, as required by Missouri Statutes, and their 
recommendation will subsequently be forwarded to the PPW 
Committee and then City Council for action at a future meeting. (Voice 

Vote) 
 

 



 

3. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled 
 

C. Parks, Recreation and Arts Committee – Chairperson Gary Budoor, 
Ward IV 

 
1. Proposed Resolution No. 499 - Municipal Parks Grant RD-25 

Central Park Playground:  the Parks, Recreation and Arts Committee 

unanimously recommended submission of a Municipal Parks Grant 
application for the Central Park Playground, and approval of the 
proposed, required resolution of support. (Voice vote) 

 
2. Aquatic Facility Replacement Strategy: The Parks, Recreation and 

Arts Committee unanimously endorsed the aquatic Facility 
Replacement Strategy dated June 21st, 2024, prepared by City 
Administrator Geisel.  Task one of the seven tasks outlined in the 

strategy has been completed and task two involves soliciting and 
funding a design consultant for the entire project, but whose first tasks 

would be to conduct additional public engagement and develop the 
preliminary design and cost estimates which would be used to develop 
funding strategies.  (Voice vote)   

 
3. Central Park Forest Management:  The Parks, Recreation and Arts 

Committee unanimously endorsed a $100,000 budgetary transfer from 

the Parks Fund – Fund Reserve in the full amount of a four-year Forest 
Management program, and to authorize a multi-year contract with 

Native Landscape Solutions, both of which are contingent on receiving 
the 2024-2025 Missouri Department of Conservation grant which 
would reimburse half of the City’s year one expenditures.  (Roll call 

vote) 
 

4. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled  

 
D. Public Health and Safety Committee – Chairperson Aaron Wahl, Ward II 

 
1. Proposed Resolution No. 500 – Flock Camera Installation:  The 

Public Health and Safety Committee recommends approval of the 

proposed resolution which authorizes the execution of an agreement 
with St. Louis County for installation of a Flock camera within St. 

Louis County Right of Way.  (Roll Call Vote) 
 

2. Proposed Bill No. 3511 – Regulation of Hemp Based Products:  The 

Public Health and Safety Committee unanimously endorsed a proposed 
ordinance to restrict the sale of Hemp Derived Intoxicants.  (First & 
Second Reading) 

 
3. Proposed Bill No. 3512 – Regulation of KRATOM products:  The 

Public Health and Safety Committee unanimously endorsed passage of 
a proposed ordinance to restrict the sale of Kratom products to anyone 



 

under the age of 21 unless prescribed by a licensed healthcare 
provider.  (First & Second Reading Reading) 

 
4. Parkway School District SRO Contract:  The Public Health and 

Safety Committee unanimously endorsed the renewal of the agreement 
for providing School Resource Officers.  (Roll Call Vote) 

 

5. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled 
 

X. REPORT FROM THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR – Mike Geisel 
 

A. Municipal League of Metro St. Louis Annual Dues:  As previously 
instructed, the City Administrator has forwarded the invoice from the 

Municipal League of Metro St. Louis County, in the amount of $7,122 for 
approval.  This membership is included in the 2024 approved budget. (Roll 
Call vote) 

 
B. Wilson Avenue Right of Way Parcel Ten    

Recommendation to authorize the City Administrator to issue payment in 

the amount of $49,984 and execute all necessary right of way and 
easement documents associated with Parcel Ten of the Wilson Avenue 

Project. (Roll Call Vote) Department of Public Works recommends 
approval.   
 

XI. OTHER LEGISLATION 

 

A. Proposed Bill No. 3513 – Estates at Conway: An ordinance providing for 
the approval of a Record Plat and escrow agreements for a 2.14-acre tract of 

land being part of lot 5 of Highland on Conway, Plat 1 for a subdivision 
zoned “R3” Residential District located approximately  0.7  miles  southeast  
from  the  intersection  of  Conway  Road  and Chesterfield Parkway East 

and north of Interstate 64 (Ward 2).  (First & Second Reading) Planning 
Commission recommends approval.    
  

XII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

XIII. NEW BUSINESS 
 

XIV.   ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
NOTE: City Council will consider and act upon the matters listed above and such other 
matters as may be presented at the meeting and determined to be appropriate for 
discussion at that time. 
 
Notice is hereby given that the City Council may also hold a closed meeting for the 
purpose of dealing with matters relating to one or more of the following: legal actions, 
causes of action, litigation or privileged communications between the City’s representatives 



 

and its attorneys (RSMo 610.021(1) 1994; lease, purchase or sale of real estate (RSMo 
610.021(2) 1994; hiring, firing, disciplining or promoting employees with employee groups 
(RSMo 610.021(3)1994; Preparation, including any discussions or work product, on behalf 
of a public governmental body or its representatives for negotiations with employee groups 
(RSMo 610.021(9) 1994; and/or bidding specification (RSMo 610.021(11) 1994. 
 
PERSONS REQUIRING AN ACCOMMODATION TO ATTEND AND PARTICIPATE IN 
THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING SHOULD CONTACT CITY CLERK VICKIE MCGOWND 
AT (636)537-6716, AT LEAST TWO (2) WORKDAYS PRIOR TO THE MEETING. 



UPCOMING MEETINGS/EVENTS   
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A. Executive Session Minutes – June 17, 2024 

 
B. City Council Meeting Minutes – June 17, 2024 

 
 
INTRODUCTORY REMARKS 

  
A. Thursday, July 18, 2024 – Planning & Public Works (5:30pm) 

 
B. Tuesday, July 23, 2024 – Finance 105 (6:00pm) 
 

C. Monday, August 5, 2024 – City Council (7:00pm) 
 
 

COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

 
APPOINTMENTS 
 



DATE CHECK # VENDOR DESCRIPTION CHECK AMT FUND

6/6/2024 52399 JOE MACHENS FORD 2024 FORD F-150 TRUCK (REPLACE PK-18, A 2015 GMC SIERRA 1500
WITH OVER 110,000 MILES) 52,156.00$ 119

6/6/2024 52408 SECURITY EQUIPMENT SUPPLY UPGRADE VIDEO SECURITY COMPONENTS (CAMERAS, RECORDERS,
HARDWARE) AT AMPHITHEATER AND PARKS ADMIN BUILDING 6,928.74 119

6/20/2024 52460 AMEREN MISSOURI CONCESSION STAND B, 17925 NORTH OUTER FORTY RD - SERVICE 5/7-
6/6/2024 5,029.68 119

6/20/2024 52480 HEAVY DUTY EQUIPMENT TWO EXMARK MOWERS TO REPLACE PK-265 AND PK-282 13,598.00 119

6/20/2024 52482 LANDSCAPE STRUCTURES INC CVAC B1 PLAYGROUND REPLACEMENT - MIRACLE FIELD RENOVATION
PROJECT 273,919.00 119

6/6/2024 72423 AMCON MUNICIPAL CONCRETE, LLC SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT PROJECTS-PROGRESS PYMT #3 241,705.65 120

6/6/2024 72426 ARROWHEAD ESTATES HOMEOWNERS' ASSOC. 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 6,120.00 001

6/6/2024 72428 AXON ENTERPRISE INC. TASER SUPPLIES - CARTRIDGES AND BATTERY PACKS 12,923.00 121

6/6/2024 72430 BAXTER RIDGE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 6,750.00 001

6/6/2024 72432 BAYWOOD VILLAGES CONDOMINIUMS 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 6,440.00 001

6/6/2024 72438 CHESTERFIELD VILLIAGE TOWNHOMES 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 7,720.00 001

6/6/2024 72439 COMMONS OF BROADMOOR 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 6,806.78 001

6/6/2024 72441 DELTA DENTAL  OF MISSOURI JUNE 2024 DENTAL INSURANCE PREMIUMS 13,640.75 001

6/6/2024 72449 FOUR SEASONS SUBDIVISION 2023-2024 SNOW REMOVAL REIMBURSEMENT 5,350.00 001

6/6/2024 72455 GULF STATES AMMUNITION FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT TRAINING AND SERVICE
AMMUNITION FOR ALL OFFICERS 10,045.00 121

6/6/2024 72465 LIFT RITE, INC. SIDEWALK LEVELING PROJECT - PROGRESS PYMT #1 98,580.00 120

6/6/2024 72477 NEXT-LEVEL CONSTRUCTION, LLC WILDHORSE PARKWAY RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT - PROGRESS PYMT
#6 296,589.00 120

6/6/2024 72482 RSC INSURANCE BROKERAGE, INC PROPERTY ENDORSEMENT EXTENDING POLICY TO AUGUST 2024 31,803.00 001

6/6/2024 72485 ST. LOUIS AREA HEALTH INSURANCE TRUST-
MEDICAL JUNE 2024 HEALTH INSURANCE PREMIUMS 216,437.88 001

6/6/2024 72523 ZUMWALT CORPORATION REPLACEMENT OF THE SALT DOME TARP CURTAIN WITH ALUMINUM
ROLLING DOOR 21,698.00 120

6/7/2024 72527 PRESTIGE CUSTOM HOMES, INC. LOT CASH ESCROW RELEASE, FIENUP FARMS, LOTS 163D-170D & 172D-
179 24,000.00 808

6/7/2024 72528 SHELBOURNE HEALTHCARE DEVELOPMENT GROUP,
LLC

GRADING SURETY RELEASE, G-113-21, 16255 W. CHESTERFIELD PKWY,
FINAL INSPECTION COMPLETE 13,375.00 808

6/13/2024 72537 HESSE GRAVILLE, LLC JUNE 2024 LEGAL AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICE FEES 25,741.25 001

6/13/2024 72548 ST. LOUIS COUNTY MISSOURI - POLICE DEPT COMMUNICATIONS CONTRACT FOR POLICE DEPARTMENT COMPUTER
ASSISTED REPORT ENTRY SYSTEM 17,734.32 121

6/13/2024 72550 THE HARTFORD-PRIORITY ACCOUNTS JUNE 2024 GROUP LIFE, LTD, STD, VOL LIFE, ACCIDENT, AND CRITICAL
ILLNESS INSURANCE 14,852.44 001

6/20/2024 72559 AMEREN MISSOURI 690 CHESTERFIELD PKWY W - SERVICE 5/7-6/6/2024 14,006.98 001

6/20/2024 72572 ENERGY PETROLEUM CO. MID RFG GASOLINE 89 OCT, DIESEL, ULTRA LS 24,225.09 001

6/20/2024 72575 FARINELLA NURSERY LANDSCAPE CONST. LLC 2024 STREET TREE PLANTING 29,075.00 001

6/20/2024 72602 PNC BANK MAY-JUNE 2024 PNC MONTHLY CREDIT CARD STATEMENT 17,707.66 001

6/20/2024 72606 RSC INSURANCE BROKERAGE, INC 2024-2025 PUBLIC OFFICIALS AND CYBER INSURANCE 77,604.00 001

6/20/2024 72609 SCA OF MO, LLC 2024 SPRING STREET SWEEPING 13,000.00 001

6/20/2024 72611 SHI INTERNATIONAL CORP ANNUAL MICROSOFT VOLUME SOFTWARE LICENSING 60,021.44 001

6/20/2024 72620 TIMBERLINE PROFESSIONAL TREE CARE LLC 2024 STREET TREE AND STUMP REMOVALS 9,425.00 001

6/20/2024 72621 TOPE INC 356 RIDGEMEADOW - SEWER REPAIR 6,182.00 110

6/20/2024 72625 TOPE INC 1863 STENTON PATH - SEWER REPAIR 7,562.00 110

6/27/2024 72631 AMCON MUNICIPAL CONCRETE, LLC CONCRETE SLAB REPLACEMENT PROJECT B - PROGRESS PYMT #4 31,213.20 120

6/27/2024 72641 GEOTECHNOLOGY INC. CONSTRUCTION AND INSPECTION TESTING SERVICES - PROGRESS PYMT
#2 34,917.03 120

6/27/2024 72647 HORNER & SHIFRIN INC. SCHOETTLER ROAD SIDEWALK EXTENSION - ENGINEERING SERVICES-
PROGRESS PYMT #1 31,298.65 120

6/27/2024 72656 M & H CONCRETE CONTRACTORS, INC. CONCRETE SLAB REPLACEMENT PROJECT A - PROGRESS PYMT #2 834,091.78 120

6/27/2024 72668 REAL ESTATE ANALYSTS, LTD CENTRAL PARK PROPERTY APPRAISAL 5,750.00 120

6/27/2024 72670 REJIS COMMISSION REJIS CONTRACTUAL FEES-JUNE 2024 8,284.25 121

6/27/2024 72674 SPENCER CONTRACTING COMPANY ACCESSIBLE SIDEWALK RAMP IMPROVEMENT PROJECT - PROGRESS
PYMT #1 47,503.32 120

6/27/2024 72677 ST. LOUIS AREA INSURANCE TRUST 2024-2025 WORKER'S COMP, GENERAL, POLICE, AND AUTO LIABILITY
INSURANCE 487,758.00 001

3,169,568.89$

Respectfully submitted by,
Jeannette Kelly, Director of Finance General Fund 001

Sewer lateral fund 110
Police forfeiture  fund 114

Parks 119
Capital Improvements 120

Public Safety 121
Am Rescue Plan Act 137

Trust & Agency 808
TGA Trust Fund 810

City of Chesterfield
Excess Checks (=> $5,000)

June 2024

Fund Legend



 1 

 
 

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDING 

 

 

 MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

OF THE CITY OF CHESTERFIELD 

 AT 690 CHESTERFIELD PARKWAY WEST 

 

JUNE 17, 2024 

 
 

 

The meeting was called to order at 7 p.m. 

 

Mayor Bob Nation led everyone in the Pledge of Allegiance and followed with a moment 

of silent prayer.  

 

A roll call was taken with the following results: 

 

PRESENT ABSENT 

 

Mayor Bob Nation  

Councilmember Mary Monachella 

Councilmember Barbara McGuinness 

Councilmember Aaron Wahl 

Councilmember Mary Ann Mastorakos 

Councilmember Dan Hurt 

Councilmember Michael Moore 

Councilmember Merrell Hansen 

Councilmember Gary Budoor 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The minutes of the June 3, 2024 Executive Session were submitted for approval. 

Councilmember Moore made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Budoor, to approve 

the June 3, 2024 Executive Session minutes.  A voice vote was taken with a unanimous 

affirmative result and the motion was declared passed. 



 2 

The minutes of the June 3, 2024 City Council meeting were submitted for approval. 

Councilmember Wahl made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Moore, to approve 

the June 3, 2024 City Council minutes.  A voice vote was taken with a unanimous 

affirmative result and the motion was declared passed. 

 

INTRODUCTORY REMARKS 

 

Mayor Nation announced that the next meeting of City Council is scheduled for Monday, 

July 15, at 7 p.m. 

 

COMMUNICATIONS AND PETITIONS 

 

Mr. Stephen Kling, representing Gumbo Flats Properties, spoke in support (including 

proposed amendments) and stated that he was available to answer questions pertaining to 

Bill No. 3508 (P.Z. 02-2024 18009 and 18045 N. Outer 40 Rd. [Gumbo Flats Properties, 

LLC]. 

 

Mr. George Stock, 257 Chesterfield Business Parkway, spoke in support (including 

proposed amendments) and stated that he was available to answer questions pertaining to 

Bill No. 3508 (P.Z. 02-2024 18009 and 18045 N. Outer 40 Rd. [Gumbo Flats Properties, 

LLC]. 

 

Chief Russ Adams and Deputy Chief Nick Smith, Monarch Fire Protection District, 

provided information and spoke in support of the Monarch Fire property tax proposal 

(Proposition A) that will be on the August 6 ballot. 

 

APPOINTMENTS 

 

Mayor Nation nominated Mr. Larry Walker for appointment to the Police Personnel 

Board, effective August 15, 2024.  Councilmember Hansen made a motion, seconded by 

Councilmember Moore, to appoint Mr. Larry Walker to the Police Personnel Board for a 

term of three years.  A voice vote was taken with a unanimous affirmative result and the 

motion was declared passed. 

 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION 

 

Planning & Public Works Committee 

 

Bill No. 3508 Repeals City of Chesterfield Ordinance Number 2944 for a “PI” 

Planned Industrial District and creates a new “PI” Planned Industrial 

District for a 78.07 acre  tract of land located on the north side of 

Outer 40 Road [P.Z. 02-2024 18009 and 18045 N. Outer Forty Road 

(Gumbo Flats Properties, LLC), 16W310045 and 16W240041]. 

(Second Reading) Planning Commission recommends approval. 

Planning & Public Works Committee voted 2-2 and moves 

forward to City Council. 



 3 

 

 

Councilmember Dan Hurt, Chairperson of the Planning & Public Works Committee, 

made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Hansen, for the second reading of Bill No. 

3508. 

 

Councilmember Hurt made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Hansen, to amend 

Bill No. 3508 by removing the Non-Urban zoned portion of the property from the 

petition.  A voice vote was taken with a unanimous affirmative result and the motion to 

amend was declared passed. 

 

Councilmember Hurt made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Hansen, to further 

amend Bill No. 3508 by adding the following language to Attachment A, under 

Landscape and Tree Requirements: 

 

The proposed parking areas shall be screened by a minimum 10’ berm (in 

lieu of the 8’ berm shown on the Preliminary Development Plan) and 

include landscaping consisting of 12’ tall Green Giant Arborvitae (or 

similar plantings approved by the City of Chesterfield). 

 

A voice vote was taken with a unanimous affirmative result and the motion to further 

amend was declared passed. 

 

A voice vote was taken with a unanimous affirmative result and the original motion for 

the second reading of Bill No. 3508, as amended, was declared passed.  Bill No. 3508 

was read for the second time.  A roll call vote was taken for the passage and approval of 

Bill No. 3508 with the following results:  Ayes – Moore, Budoor, Wahl, Monachella, 

Hansen, McGuinness, Mastorakos and Hurt.  Nays – None.  Whereupon Mayor Nation 

declared Bill No. 3508 approved, passed it and it became ORDINANCE NO. 3299. 

 

Councilmember Hurt announced that the next meeting of this Committee is scheduled for 

Thursday, June 20, at 5:30 p.m. 

 

Finance & Administration Committee 

 

Councilmember Barbara McGuinness, Chairperson of the Finance & Administration 

Committee, announced that the next meeting of this Committee is scheduled for Monday, 

July 1, at 4:00 p.m. 

 

Parks, Recreation & Arts Committee 

 

Councilmember Gary Budoor, Chairperson of the Parks, Recreation & Arts Committee, 

indicated that there were no action items scheduled on the agenda for this meeting. 

 



 4 

Public Health & Safety Committee 

 

Councilmember Aaron Wahl, Chairperson of the Public Health & Safety Committee, 

announced that the next meeting of this Committee is scheduled for Monday, July 1, at 

5:00 p.m. 

 

REPORT FROM THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

 

City Administrator Mike Geisel reported that Staff has recommended the installation of a 

mid-block pedestrian crosswalk near Logan Park, including a rectangular rapid flashing 

beacon at an estimated cost of $17,600 and approval of a landscaping reimbursement to 

the adjacent subdivision in an amount not to exceed $1,500, both funded by a transfer 

from the General Fund Fund Reserve in the amount of $19,100.  Councilmember Hurt 

made a motion, seconded by Councilmember Moore, to approve this recommendation.  

Councilmember Moore indicated that there had been substantial communication and 

public outreach including multiple residents of the subdivision directly adjacent to the 

proposed crosswalk who were supportive of the crosswalk installation at the 

recommended location.  A roll call vote was taken with the following results:  Ayes – 

Hurt, Budoor, Wahl, Monachella, Hansen, Mastorakos, Moore and McGuinness.  Nays – 

None.  Whereupon Mayor Nation declared the motion passed. 

 

OTHER LEGISLATION 

 

There was no other legislation scheduled for this meeting. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

There was no unfinished business scheduled on the agenda for this meeting. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

There was no new business. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Nation adjourned the meeting at 7:32 

p.m. 

 

          

Mayor Bob Nation 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________________  

Vickie McGownd, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED BY CITY COUNCIL:  __________________ 





PLANNING AND PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 
Chair:  Councilmember Dan Hurt 

Vice Chair: Councilmember Mary Monachella 

 

A. Proposed Bill No. 3510 – 04-2024 The Smokehouse:   
An ordinance  repealing  City  of  Chesterfield  ordinance  2125  to  
amend  the  legal description and the development criteria for an 
existing “C8” Planned Commercial District located on the south side of 
Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter Road. (17T240201,  
17T240199).  (First  Reading)  Planning  Commission  recommends 

approval. Planning & Public Works Committee recommends 
approval.    

B. FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd): A request for a new 
Facilities Siting Permit to install a new cell pole and accompanying 
infrastructure and a new power pole with transformer located in the 
City of Chesterfield right-of-way at the Dierbergs Meditation Park at the 
northwest intersection of Olive Boulevard and River Valley Drive (Ward 
1). Planning & Public Works Committee recommends approval.    

 

C. Next Meeting – July 18, 2024 
  

 

NEXT MEETING 

 
The next Planning and Public Works Committee is scheduled for Thursday, July 18 
2024, at 5:30pm. 

 
If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact Director 

of Planning - Justin Wyse, Director of Public Works – Jim Eckrich, or me prior to 
Monday’s meeting.   



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Mike Geisel, City Administrator  
 
FROM: Justin Wyse, Director of Planning 
 
SUBJECT: Planning & Public Works Committee Meeting Summary  

 Thursday, June 20, 2024 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
A meeting of the Planning and Public Works Committee of the Chesterfield City Council was held 
on Thursday, June 20, 2024 in Conference Room 101.  
 
In attendance were: Chair Dan Hurt (Ward III), Councilmember Mary Monachella (Ward I), 
Councilmember Mary Ann Mastorakos (Ward II), and Councilmember Merrell Hansen (Ward 
IV). 
 
Also in attendance were: Elliot Brown, Assistant City Administrator; Justin Wyse, Director of 
Planning; Isaak Simmers, Planner; Theresa Barnicle, Executive Assistant; Tom Sehnert, Owner of 
Annie Gunn’s; Mike Doster, Attorney representing Annie Gunn’s; and Tysen Weishaar, 
Representative for applicant regarding FSP 60-2024. 
 
The meeting was called to order at 5:30 p.m.  
 
I. APPROVAL OF MEETING SUMMARY 
    

A. Approval of the June 6, 2024 Committee Meeting Summary 
 
Councilmember Hansen made a motion to approve the Meeting Summary of June 6, 2024.  The 
motion was seconded by Councilmember Monachella and passed by a voice vote of 4-0.   
 
II. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  

 
A. FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd): A request for a new Facilities Siting 

Permit to install a new cell pole and accompanying infrastructure and a new 
power pole with transformer located in the City of Chesterfield right-of-way at the 
Dierberg Meditation Park at the northwest intersection of Olive Boulevard and 
River Valley Drive (Ward 1). 

 
DISCUSSION 
This item was originally postponed from the last meeting so that the City Attorney could be 
consulted about this measure. Since the applicant reiterated that the sites were specifically 
chosen due to them having to decommission a macro rooftop site, no adverse action can be taken 

 

https://www.chesterfield.mo.us/webcontent/Agendas/PlanAgendaDocs/06-06-2024_III.A.pdf


Planning & Public Works Committee Meeting Summary 
June 20, 2024 

2 

and the measure must move forward to allow completion of the series of pole installations. The 
council was in accord that they were not happy about approving, but did so to get the measure 
to City Council so that there could be further discussion from additional councilmembers and 
citizens. 
Councilmember Hurt made a motion to approve FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd) to 
City Council with a recommendation to approve. The motion was seconded by Councilmember 
Monachella. Councilmember Mastorakos then made a motion to amend the motion to include 
a request that nearby residents and HOA’s in the area be made aware of the plans for the 
tower. Councilmember Hansen seconded, and the amendment to the motion passed by a voice 
vote of 4-0. The amended motion passed with a voice vote of 3-1 with councilmember Hansen 
voting nay. 
 
III. NEW BUSINESS 

 
A. P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse: A request to amend the legal description and the 

ordinance for an existing “C-8” Planned Commercial District located on the south 
side of Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter Road (Ward 4). 

 
DISCUSSION 
Councilmember Hansen commended Planning Commission for vetting this, and made a motion 
to recommend to City Council with a recommendation to approve. The motion was seconded 
by Councilmember Hurt, and passed by a voice vote of 4-0. 
 

B. Unfit Buildings: Discussion on Section 500.500 – 500.670 pertaining to Unfit 
Buildings. 

 
DISCUSSION 
The two examples cited in the report – 1000 N. Woods Mill Road and 211 Stablestone Drive – 
were two of the more extreme cases, but served as talking points. Justin Wyse, Director of 
Planning and Elliot Brown, Assistant City Administrator, wanted to continue discussions regarding 
code enforcement activities and the direction the council wants to go regarding interior property 
inspections, as currently City code does not include standards for interior conditions of 
properties. These discussions have been ongoing; however, Staff regularly receives complaints 
from Councilmembers about not being able to address issues due to the lack of adopted 
standards for interior conditions of dwellings. Discussion ensued about what the owner’s rights 
were and where the line was drawn when it came to controlling an owner’s right to live as they 
wish in their own house. 
Mr. Wyse mentioned that the two example properties were structurally sound, but the living 
atmosphere was unhealthy. Discussion followed after the issue was raised of how bad a property 
can get before the deteriorating conditions begin to affect neighboring properties, and how that 
correlates in relation to the current code. It was also stated that St. Louis County has raised 
concern with the City about condemning the example properties, but the City’s hands were tied 
due to the current City code. 



Planning & Public Works Committee Meeting Summary 
June 20, 2024 

3 

Overall, the council was in consensus that action needed to be taken regarding this matter. 
This item was for discussion only, so no vote was necessary. However, a plan was proposed to 
begin working more in-depth with code enforcement to increase the frequency of violations 
over the next few months, and in that time, for Mr. Wyse and Mr. Brown to reach out to several 
surrounding cities to compare their codes and their handling of such issues to ours. Council will 
revisit this issue in no more than three months, at which time they will take into consideration 
the results of the increased code enforcement efforts. 
 
IV. OTHER 

 
A. Councilmember Hansen requested permission to add an item to the next agenda 

for discussion dealing with issues with use of All Terrain Vehicles (ATVs) and noise 
issues during PM hours. 

 
B. Councilmember Hansen also requested clarification of a timeframe for council to 

provide an update regarding The Valley signage. It was decided that this issue will 
be discussed tentatively at the August 8 meeting. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The meeting adjourned at 6:46 p.m. 
 



Memorandum  
Department of Planning  
 

To:  City Council 
 

From: Justin Wyse, Director of Planning  
 

Date:  July 15, 2024 
 

RE:  P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse: A request to amend the legal description 

and development criteria for an existing “C-8” Planned Commercial District 
located on the south side of Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter 

Road (Ward 4).   
 
Summary    

Doster, Nations, Ullom & Boyle, LLC, on behalf of the Thomas P. Sehnert Revocable 
Trust/Annie Gunn’s Smokehouse Market, has submitted a request to amend the legal 

description and development critieria for an existing “C-8” Planned Commercial District 
located on the south side of Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter Road, 
commonly known as Annie Gunn’s Smokehouse. The purpose of the change is to 

incororate a small area of former right-of-way located between two parcels owned by 
the Annie Gunn’s into the planned district ordinance. 
 

A Public Hearing was held on June 10th, 2024 for the petition. No issues were raised 
and the Planning Commission unanimously approved a motion to approve a 

recommendation for approval to the City Council. Attached to this report, please find 
the June 10th, 2024 Public Hearing and Vote Report, Attachment A, narrative, and 
Preliminary Development Plan. The Planning and Public Works Committee reviewed 

the petition on June 20, 2024, and the Committee made a recommendation to approve 
it as presented.  
 

 





BILL NO.                       ORDINANCE NO.______________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING CITY OF CHESTERFIELD ORDINANCE 2125 

TO AMEND THE LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND THE DEVELOPMENT CRITERIA 

FOR AN EXISTING “C8” PLANNED COMMERCIAL DISTRICT LOCATED ON 

THE SOUTH SIDE OF CHESTERFIELD AIRPORT ROAD AND WEST OF 

BAXTER ROAD. (17T240201, 17T240199). 

 

WHEREAS, the City passed Resolution 485 authorizing the City 

Administrator to execute a quit claim deed to the Thomas P. Sehnert Revocable 

Trust for any interest in certain real property; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the petitioner, Doster, Nations, Ullom and Boyle, LLC, on 

behalf of the Thomas P. Sehnert Revocable Trust/Annie Gunn’s Smokehouse 

Market, has requested to amend the legal description and the development 

criteria for an existing “C8” Planned Commercial District located on the south 

side of Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter Road; and,  

 

 WHEREAS, a Public Hearing was held before the Planning Commission on 

June 10, 2024; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, having considered said request, 

recommended approval of the change of zoning by a vote of 8-0; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Public Works Committee, having considered 

said request, recommended approval of the change of zoning by a vote of 4-0; 

and, 

 WHEREAS, the City Council, having considered said request, voted to 

approve the change of zoning request. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CHESTERFIELD, ST. LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1. City of Chesterfield Unified Development Code and the Official 

Zoning District Map, which are part thereof, are hereby amended by repealing 

City of Chesterfield Ordinance 2125 to amend the legal description and 

development criteria for an existing “C8” Planned Commercial District located on 

the south side of Chesterfield Airport Road and west of Baxter Road and 

described as follows: 



A TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE CITY OF CHESTERFIELD, COUNTY OF 

ST. LOUIS, STATE OF MISSOURI, LYING IN PART OF U.S. SURVEY 2031, 

TOWNSHIP 45 NORTH, RANGE 4 EAST, BEING THOSE TRACTS OF LAND 

CONVEYED TO THOMAS P SEHNERT REVOCABLE TRUST, AS DESCRIBED IN 

DEED BOOK 12593, PAGE 1348 AND DEED BOOK 25268, PAGE 3661 OF THE 

ST. LOUIS COUNTY LAND RECORDS, AND ALSO BEING THAT PART OF 

FORMER CHESTERFIELD AIRPORT ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY CONVEYED TO 

SAID THOMAS P. SEHNERT REVOCABLE TRUST BY SAID ST. LOUIS COUNTY, 

MISSOURI, AS DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. 2023072000087, AND ALSO 

BEING THAT PART OF SAID FORMER CHESTERFIELD AIRPORT ROAD RIGHT-

OF-WAY CONVEYED TO THOMAS P. SEHNERT REVOCABLE TRUST BY SAID 

CITY OF CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI AS DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. 

2023072000087, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE SOUTHERN LINE OF 

CHESTERFIELD AIRPORT ROAD (U.S. HIGHWAY 40), 100 FEET WIDE, WITH 

THE EASTERN LINE OF SILVER MAPLE FARMS, A SUBDIVISION FILED FOR 

RECORD IN PLAT BOOK 274, PAGE 96 OF THE ST. LOUIS COUNTY LAND 

RECORDS; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERN LINE AS FOLLOWS: 238.25 

FEET ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, WITH A RADIUS OF 2814.93 FEET, 

WITH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 04 DEGREES 50 MINUTES 58 SECONDS, WITH 

A CHORD THAT BEARS SOUTH 79 DEGREES 10 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST 

A DISTANCE OF 238.18 FEET TO A POINT OF A COMPOUND CURVE; 144.70 

FEET ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,814.97 FEET, 

THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 002 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 43 SECONDS, 

WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS SOUTH 75 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 17 SECONDS 

EAST, A DISTANCE OF 144.69 FEET TO A POINT OF COMPOUND CURVE; 

60.27 FEET ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,814.93 

FEET, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 01 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 36 

SECONDS, WITH A CHORD THAT BEARS SOUTH 73 DEGREES 18 MINUTES 

00 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 60.27 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION OF 

SAID SOUTHERN LINE OF CHESTERFIELD AIRPORT ROAD (U.S. HIGHWAY 

40), 100 FEET WIDE WITH THE WESTERN LINE OF CHESTERFIELD GROVE 

LOT 1A & 3, ACCORDING TO PLAT BOOK 350, PAGE 242 OF SAID ST. LOUIS 

COUNTY LAND RECORDS; THENCE LEAVING SAID SOUTHERN LINE AND 

ALONG SAID WESTERN LINE, SOUTH 00DEGREES 45 MINUTES 45 SECONDS 

EAST, A DISTANCE OF 235.19 FEET; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID 

WESTERN LINE AND IT'S WESTERLY PROLONGATION THEREOF, SOUTH 87 

DEGREES 32 MINUTES 09 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 180.06 FEET TO 



THE NORTHEAST CORNER LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO NEIL 

E. SELLENRIEK AND MARY SELLENRIEK TRUST, AS DESCRIBED IN DEED 

BOOK 22197, PAGE 1063 OF THE ST. LOUIS COUNTY LAND RECORDS: 

THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERN LINE OF SAID SELLENRIEK TRUST TRACT, 

SOUTH 87 DEGREES 35 MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 

243.52 FEET TO SAID EASTERN LINE OF SILVER MAPLE FARMS; THENCE 

ALONG SAID EASTERN LINE AS FOLLOWS: NORTH 00 DEGREES 37 MINUTES 

58 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 54.74 FEET, NORTH 02 DEGREES 21 

MINUTES 03 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 297.25 TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING. CONTAINING 2.921 ACRES (127,265 SQUARE FEET), BY GRIMES 

CONSULTING, INC., LS-343-D, DATED APRIL 2024. 

 

 Section 2. The preliminary approval, pursuant to the City of Chesterfield 

Zoning Ordinance is granted, subject to all of the ordinances, rules and 

regulations. 

 

 Section 3. The City Council, pursuant to the petition filed by Doster, 

Nations, Ullom and Boyle, LLC, on behalf of the Thomas P. Sehnert Revocable 

Trust/Annie Gunn’s Smokehouse Market, in P.Z. 04-2024, requesting the 

rezoning embodied in this ordinance, and pursuant to the recommendation of 

the City of Chesterfield Planning Commission that said petition be granted and 

after a public hearing, held by the Planning Commission on the 10th day of June, 

2024, does hereby adopt this ordinance pursuant to the power granted to the 

City of Chesterfield under Chapter 89 of the Revised Statutes of the State of 

Missouri authorizing the City Council to exercise legislative power pertaining to 

planning and zoning.  

 

 Section 4. This ordinance and the requirements thereof are exempt from 

the warning and summons for violations as set out in Section 8 of the City of 

Chesterfield Unified Development Code.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Section 5. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval.  

 

 Passed and approved this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 

   

_____________________________                   ____________________________________ 

    PRESIDING OFFICER        Bob Nation, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Vickie McGownd, CITY CLERK 

 

FIRST READING HELD:   7/15/2024   



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 1 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

 

In keeping with the following Comprehensive Plan policies, these conditions have been 

developed: 

 

•  1.0  General Policies 

•  3.1  Quality Commercial Development 

•  3.4  Signage Considerations 

•  3.5  Chesterfield Valley 

•  7.2.1 Maintain Proper Level of Service 

•  7.2.3 Maintain Proper Traffic Flow  

•  8.2.2 Underground Electric Service 

•  8.3  Stormwater Management 

 

 

I. PERMITTED USES 

 

A. The uses allowed this “C-8” Planned Commercial District shall be: 

 

1. Market 

2. Restaurant, sit –down 

3. Residence 

 

 

II. FLOOR AREA, HEIGHT, BUILDING AND PARKING STRUCTURE 

 REQUIREMENTS 

 

A. The following requirements will apply to the permitted uses: 

 

1. FLOOR AREA 

 

a. Total building floor area will not exceed 20,600 square feet.  The 

square footage constructed will be based on the development’s 

ability to comply with the City of Chesterfield parking 

requirements. 

 

2. HEIGHT 

 

a. The maximum height of the building will not exceed three-stories 

in height. 

 

3. BUILDING REQUIREMENTS 

 

a. Greenspace:  A minimum of twenty-two percent (22%) greenspace 

is required for this development. Greenspace is determined by a 

fraction: the numerator of which is all green area plus all non-



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 2 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

paved surfaces, the denominator of which is the total area of the 

site minus the area of the pedestrian access ways as approved by 

the City of Chesterfield.  The greenspace calculation for this 

development shall not include any of the greenspace area or the 

paved area within the rights-of-way of east-west bound 

Chesterfield Airport Road or the north-south bound section 

Chesterfield Airport Road used for parking under license granted 

by Saint Louis County. 

 

III.  SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 

   

Within eighteen (18) months from the date of approval of the preliminary 

development plan by the City Council and prior to issuance of any building 

permit, the developer will submit to the City of Chesterfield for their review and 

approval a Site Development Plan. Where due cause is shown by the developer, 

this time interval may be extended through appeal to and approval by the 

Planning Commission in accordance with the City of Chesterfield Zoning 

Ordinance.   

 

Failure to comply with aforementioned time limits or receipt of an extension prior 

to the aforementioned time requirements will result in the expiration of 

preliminary plan and will require a new public hearing. The Site Development 

Plan will include but not be limited to the following: 

 

IV. GENERAL CRITERIA  

 

 A. The Site Development Plan will include the following: 

 

1. Outboundary plat and legal description of the property. 

 

2. Location and size, including height above sea level, of all buildings, 

parking and loading areas, light standards, fencing, free-standing signs, 

trash enclosures, and all other above-ground structures and 

landscaping.  

 

3. Location map, north arrow, and plan scale. 

 

4. Parking calculations. 

 

5. Architectural elevations (with design statement) and materials of the 

proposed building.   

 

6. Confirmation of compliance with the sky exposure plan and height 

restrictions as set forth in this ordinance.   

 

7. Specific structure and parking setbacks along all roadways and 

property lines. 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 3 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

 

8. The size and approximate location of the proposed internal and 

adjacent roadway, major utility easements, necessary right-of-way 

dedications, road improvements, and curb cuts. 

 

9. Existing and proposed contours at intervals of not more than one (1) 

foot, and extending 150 feet beyond the limits of the site. 

 

10. Existing improvements within 150 feet of the site as directed.  Road 

and driveways on the opposite side of roadways adjacent to the site, 

and the location of significant natural features, such as wooded areas 

and rock formations, that are to remain or be removed will be 

included. 

 

11. All existing and proposed easements/rights-of-way on site and all 

existing or proposed off-site easements and rights-of-way required for 

utilities, storm water drainage, grading, or other improvements. 

 

12. Prior to Site Development Plan approval, show all existing or 

proposed easements and right-of-way on site.  The Site Development 

Plan and Tree Preservation Plan must be approved prior to clearing or 

grading. 

 

13. The location of the proposed storm sewers, detention basins, sanitary 

sewers and connection(s) to existing systems.  

 

14. Show existing improvements and the locations of significant natural 

features, such as wooded areas and rock formations that are to remain 

or be removed.  

 

15. Comply with all preliminary plat requirements of the City of 

Chesterfield Subdivision Ordinance. 

 

16. The scale to which the Site Development Plan will be drawn will be no 

greater than one (1) inch equals one hundred (100) feet. 

 

17. Provide comments/approvals from the appropriate Fire District, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District, the St. Louis County 

Department of Highways and Traffic, and the Missouri Department of 

Transportation. 

 

18. Signed and sealed in conformance with the State of Missouri 

Department of Economic Development, Division of Professional 

Registration, Missouri Board for Architects, Professional Engineers 

and Land Surveyors requirements. 

 

19. Provide the greenspace percentage and Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R). 

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 4 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

20. Provide a tree stand delineation, as directed by the City of 

Chesterfield. 

 

 

V. SPECIFIC CRITERIA 

 

 

A. The Site Development Plan will illustrate adherence to the following site-

specific design criteria: 

 

1. Structure Setbacks 

 

No building or structure, other than a freestanding project 

identification sign, boundary and retaining walls, light standards, 

flag poles or fences will be located within the following setbacks: 

 

a. Forty (40) feet from Chesterfield Airport Road. 

 

b. Seventy (70) feet from the southern boundary of the “C-8” 

Planned Commercial District. 

 

c. Twenty (20) feet from the western boundary of the “C-8” 

Planned Commercial District. 

 

d. Two-hundred twenty-five (225) feet from the eastern boundary 

of the “C-8” Planned Commercial District. 

 

2. Parking and Loading Space Setbacks 

 

No parking stall, loading space, internal driveway, or roadway, 

except points of ingress and egress, will be located within the 

following setbacks: 

   

a. Ten (10) feet from Chesterfield Airport Road. 

 

b. Five (5) feet setback from the Rear and both Sides of the “C-

8” Planned Commercial District. 

 

 

   3. Parking and Loading Requirements 

     

Parking and loading spaces for this development will be as 

required in Section 1003.165 of the City of Chesterfield Zoning 

Ordinance. 

Adequate on-site parking for construction related vehicles and 

equipment shall be provided.  No parking shall be permitted on the 

Chesterfield Airport Road right of way.   

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 5 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

4. Access 

 

Direct access to Chesterfield Airport Road shall be limited to two 

entrances on the westernmost parcel, and to one entrance on the 

easternmost parcel, and shall be as approved by the St. Louis 

County Department of Highways and Traffic and the City of 

Chesterfield. 

 

The centerline of one entrance onto Chesterfield Airport Road from 

the westernmost parcel shall be located no closer than 34 feet from 

the western property line of said westernmost parcel, or as directed 

by the City of Chesterfield and the St. Louis County Department of 

Highways and Traffic.  The centerline of the other entrance onto 

Chesterfield Airport Road from the westernmost parcel shall be 

located no closer than 31 feet from the eastern property line of said 

westernmost parcel, or as directed by the City of Chesterfield and 

the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic.   

 

The centerline of the entrance onto Chesterfield Airport Road from 

the easternmost parcel shall be located approximately 19.5 feet east 

of the centerline of the existing entrance, or as directed by the City 

of Chesterfield and the St. Louis County Department of Highways 

and Traffic. 

 

  5. Public/Private Road Improvements, Including Pedestrian 

Circulation shall be as directed by the City of Chesterfield Dept. of 

Public Works and the Saint Louis County Dept. of Highways and 

Traffic. 

    

   The developer shall provide a five-foot sidewalk along 

Chesterfield Airport Road. 

       

     6. Traffic Study 

 

 Prior to Site Development Plan approval, provide a traffic study,    

including internal and external circulation, for review, and 

approval, by the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works, 

and the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic as 

directed. 

 

    

   7. Landscape Plan 

 

 The developer shall submit a landscape plan in accordance with the 

Landscape Guidelines adopted by the Planning Commission, either 

as part of the appropriate Site Development Concept Plan or on a 

separate drawing to be reviewed as part of said plan, to comply 

with the following: 

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 6 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

a.  If the estimated cost of new landscaping indicated on the Site 

Development (Section) Plan(s) as required by the Planning 

Commission exceeds one thousand ($1,000) dollars, as 

determined by a plant nursery, the petitioner shall furnish a two 

(2) year bond or escrow sufficient in amount to guarantee the 

installation of said landscaping. 

 

b.  Prior to release of the Landscape Installation Bond/Escrow, a 

two (2)-year Landscape Maintenance Bond/Escrow will be 

required. 

 

   8. Sign Requirements 

 

a. A sign package, conforming to the requirements of City of 

Chesterfield Ordinance 2057/Zoning Ordinance Section 

1003.168 Sub-Section 4(Sigh Package Requirements), shall be 

submitted in conjunction with the Site Development Plan.  

Signage for the development shall be as approved by the 

Planning Commission.. 

 

b. Ornamental Entrance Monument construction, if proposed, 

shall be reviewed by the City of Chesterfield Department of 

Public Works, and/or the St. Louis County Department of 

Highways and Traffic, for sight distance considerations prior to 

installation or construction. 

 

c. No advertising signs, temporary  signs, portable signs, off site 

signs, or attention getting devices shall be permitted in this 

development. 

 

d. All permanent freestanding business and identification signs 

shall have landscaping, which may include, but not be limited 

to, shrubs, annuals, and other materials, adjacent to the sign 

base or structural supports.  This landscaping shall be as 

approved by the Planning Commission on the Site Development 

Plan. 

 

e. All other signs shall be permitted in accordance with the 

regulations of Section 1003.168 of the City of Chesterfield 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

  9. Light Requirements 

a. Lighting for the development shall adhere to the light standards and   

requirements set forth in the City of Chesterfield Lighting Ordinance.  

b. The location of the light standards will be as approved by the 

Planning Commission on the Site Development Plan and will be in 

conformance with City of Chesterfield regulations.  A Lighting 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 7 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

Plan, with specific product information, is required in conjunction 

with the Site Development Plan. 

 

c. Except for required street lighting, no source of illumination will 

be so situated that light is cast on any public right-of-way or 

adjoining property.  Lighting will be required in compliance with 

City of Chesterfield regulations, including the Subdivision 

Ordinance. 

 

10. Architectural elevations 

 

The developer shall submit architectural elevations and building materials.  

Architectural information is to be reviewed by the Architectural Review 

Board prior to submission to the Planning Commission. 

 

11. Monarch-Chesterfield Levee District approvals shall be required prior to 

 Site Development Plan approval. 

 

  12. Recreational Easements shall be granted as required by the Department of  

   Public Works. 

  

  13. Power of Review 

  

Either Councilmember of the Ward where a development is proposed, or 

the Mayor, may request that the site plan for a development be reviewed 

and approved by the entire City Council.  This request must be made no 

later than twenty-four (24) hours before posting the agenda for the next 

City Council meeting after Planning Commission review and approval.  

The City Council will then take appropriate action relative to the proposal. 

 

  14.       Miscellaneous 

 

a. Trash enclosures: The location and elevation of any trash enclosures 

will be as approved by the Planning Commission on the Site 

Development Plan.  All exterior trash areas will be enclosed with a 

six (6) foot high sight-proof enclosure complimented by adequate 

landscaping approved by the Planning Commission on the Site 

Development Plan.  The material will be as approved by the 

Planning Commission in conjunction with the Site Development 

Plan. 

 

b. Prior to the issuance of any occupancy permit, the existing 

stormwater channel located at the southern end of the westernmost 

parcel shall be regarded and cleaned out in such a manner as to 

restore the grade of the channel to it’s original design condition. 

 

c. Prior to improvement plan approval, a Chesterfield Valley Master 

Stormwater Easement must be granted for the existing stormwater 

channel located at the southern end of the westernmost parcel 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 8 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

 

d. The maintenance of the required stormwater/ditch system shall be 

the responsibility of the property owner(s).  

 

e. Mechanical equipment will be adequately screened by roofing or 

other material as approved by the Planning Commission 

 

f. All utilities will be installed underground.  The development of this 

parcel will coordinate the installation of all utilities in conjunction 

with the construction of any roadway on site. 

 

Sleeves for future telecommunication services are required to be 

installed adjacent and/or parallel to any proposed roadway, or other 

location as directed by the City of Chesterfield, in order to facilitate 

the installation of utilities and telecommunication infrastructure for 

current and future users. 

 

g. The Old Smokehouse historic structure will be relocated and 

retained on site. 

 

VI. TRUST FUND CONTRIBUTION 

The developer may be required to submit a Traffic Generation Assessment as 

directed by the City of Chesterfield and Saint Louis County Dept of Highways 

and Traffic. 

 

If types of development differ from those listed, the Department of Highways and 

Traffic will provide rates. 

 

Credits for roadway improvements will be as approved by the City of Chesterfield 

and St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 

 

As this development is located within a trust fund area, any portion of the traffic 

generation assessment contribution which remains following completion of road 

improvements required by the development, will be retained in the appropriate 

trust fund. 

 

The amount of this required contribution, if not submitted by January 1, 2005, 

will be adjusted on that date and on the first day of January in each succeeding 

year thereafter in accordance with the construction cost index as determined by 

the St. Louis County Department of Highways and Traffic. 

 

Traffic generation assessment contributions will be deposited with the City of 

Chesterfield or St. Louis County in the form of a check made payable to the City 

of Chesterfield prior to the issuance of building permits.  If development phasing 

is anticipated, the developer will provide the traffic generation assessment 

contribution prior to issuance of building permits for each phase of development. 

 

VII. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO APPROVAL 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 9 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

A. Prior to approval of the Site Development Plan, the developer will provide the 

following: 

1. Roadway Improvements and Curb Cuts. 

 a. Obtain approval from the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works 

and the St. Louis County Highways and Traffic for the locations of 

proposed curb cuts, areas of new dedication, and roadway improvements. 

 

2. Stormwater and Sanitary Sewer. 

a.  The site will provide for the positive drainage of storm water and it will be 

discharged at an adequate natural discharge point.  No change in 

watersheds will be permitted.  The adequacy of any existing downstream 

storm water facilities will be verified and upgraded if necessary as directed 

by the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works.  Emergency 

overflow drainage ways to accommodate the 100-year storm will be 

provided.  Off-site easements for areas inundated by headwater from on 

site improvements will be provided as required by the Department of 

Public Works. 

 

b. Stormwater drainage improvements shall be operational prior to the paving 

of any driveways or parking lots. Roadway and related improvements shall 

be constructed prior to 60% occupancy of the retail portion of the site. 

 

3. Geotechnical Report. 

Prior to Site Development Plan approval, provide a geotechnical report, as 

directed by the City of Chesterfield, Department of Public Works, prepared by 

a Professional Engineer licensed to practice in the State of Missouri.  Said 

Report will verify the suitability of grading and proposed improvements with 

soil and geologic conditions. A statement of compliance, signed and sealed by 

the Geotechnical Engineer preparing the report, will be included on all Site 

Development Plans.  This report will address the existence of any potential 

sinkholes, ponds, dams, septic fields, etc., and recommendation for treatment. 

 

4. Grading and Improvement Plans. 

a. A clearing/grading permit or improvement plan approval may be required 

prior to any grading on the site. The Site Development Plan and Tree 

Preservation Plan, if needed, must be approved prior to issuance of clearing 

and grading.  A floodplain development permit must be obtained prior to 

any work in the regulated floodplain.   

 

b. Interim storm water drainage control in the form of siltation control and/or 

siltation basins is required throughout construction.  A Storm Water 

Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) must be submitted and approved by the 

Department of Public Works prior to approval of any clearing or grading.  

The SWPPP will address required erosion control practices specific to site 

conditions.  Is purpose is to ensure the design, implementation, 

management and maintenance of Best Management Practices (BMP’s) to 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 10 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

reduce the amount of sediment and other pollutants in storm water 

discharges associated with land disturbance activities.  The SWPP will 

ensure compliance with Missouri Water Quality Standards, and the terms 

and conditions of the NPDES for the site.   

 

c. Temporary settlement basins, as required by the City of Chesterfield 

Department of Public Works, will be constructed during construction to 

allow for settling of sediment, prior to the discharge of storm water from 

this site.  Erosion and siltation control will be installed prior to any grading 

and be maintained throughout the project until acceptance of the work by 

the owner and/or controlling regulatory agency and adequate vegetative 

growth insures no future erosion of the soil.   

 

d. When clearing and/or grading operations are completed or suspended for 

more than 30 days, all necessary precautions will be taken to retain soil 

materials on site.  Protective measures, such as permanent seeding, periodic 

wetting or other means, may be required by the Director of Public 

Works/City Engineer upon demand.   

 

e. Provide adequate temporary off-street parking for construction employees 

and a vehicle washdown/cleaning area.  Parking on non-surface areas in 

prohibited in order to eliminated the condition whereby mud from 

construction and employee vehicles is tracked on the pavement causing 

hazardous roadway and driving conditions.  The contractor will keep the 

roads in the area clear of mud and debris related to his construction at all 

times.  The streets surrounding this development and any street used for 

construction  access thereto will be cleaned at the end of each day.    

 

f. If cut and fill operations occur during a season not favorable for 

immediate establishment of a permanent ground cover, a fast germinating 

annual such as rye grasses or sudan grasses will be utilized to retard 

erosion, if adequate stormwater detention and erosion control devices have 

not been established. 

 

g. This development may require an NPDES Permit from the Missouri 

Department of Natural Resources.  NPDES permits are applicable to 

construction activities that disturb five or more acres.  A copy of the 

NPDES permit must be submitted to the City of Chesterfield Department 

of Public Works prior to issuance of a grading permit or approval of 

improvement plans.   

 

h. Erosion and siltation control shall be installed prior to any grading and be 

maintained throughout the project until the acceptance of the work by the 

owner and/or controlling regulatory agency and adequate vegetative 

growth insures no future erosion of the soil. Construct temporary 

settlement basins during construction to allow for settling of sediment, 

prior to the discharge of stormwater from this site. 

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 11 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

i. If any development in, or alteration of, the floodplain is proposed, the 

developer shall submit a Floodplain Development Permit/Application to 

the City of Chesterfield Department of Public Works for approval.  Be 

advised that in conjunction with any site alteration the developer will be 

required to demonstrate that there will be no adverse effect on other 

properties located within the Chesterfield Valley.  The Floodplain 

Development Permit/Application must be approved by the City of 

Chesterfield Department of Public Works prior to the approval of the 

Improvement Plans or Grading Plans.  If any change in the location of the 

Special Flood Hazard Area is proposed, the Developer shall be required to 

obtain a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) from the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency.  The LOMR must be issued by FEMA prior to the 

final release of any escrow held by the City of Chesterfield for 

improvements in the development. 

 

j. If any is proposed to be located in an existing, or proposed, Special Flood 

Hazard Area the building shall be clearly labeled as being located in the 

Floodplain on the Approved Site Development Plan and Improvement 

Plan.  The lowest Reference Level (floor), as defined by FEMA, shall be 

constructed a minimum of one (1) foot above the base flood elevation 

unless a LOMR has been issued by FEMA prior to construction.  The 

minimum elevation for the Reference Level for each building shall also be 

noted on the approved Site Development Plan and Improvement Plan. 

 

k. Prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit for any building within the 

development the Developer shall be required to submit an "Elevation 

Certificate" (FEMA form 81-31) for that building to the City of 

Chesterfield Department of Public Works. 

 

l. The developer shall cause, at his expense and prior to the recording of any 

plat, the reestablishment, restoration or appropriate witnessing of all 

Corners of the United States Public Land Survey located within, or which 

define or lie upon, the outboundaries of the subject tract in accordance 

with the Missouri Minimum Standards relating to the preservation and 

maintenance of the U.S. Public Land Survey Corners.  

 

 

 

 

VIII. RECORDING 

 

Within sixty (60) days of approval of any development plan by the City of Chesterfield, 

the approved Plan will be recorded with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds.  Failure 

to do so will result in the expiration of approval of said plan and require re-approval by 

the Planning Commission. 

 

IX. CHESTERFIELD VALLEY TRUST FUND 

 

 Contributions as directed by the City of Chesterfield.  



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 12 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

X. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO SPECIAL USE PERMIT ISSUANCE   

 

Prior to any Special Use Permit issuance by St. Louis County Department of Highways 

and Traffic, if required, a special cash escrow or a special escrow supported by an 

Irrevocable Letter of credit must be established with this Department to guarantee 

completion of the required roadway improvements. 

 

XI. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO IMPROVEMENT PLAN APPROVAL   

 

Prior to improvement plan approval, the developer will provide the following: 

 

1. Comments/approvals from the Missouri Department of Transportation, the 

Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District and the appropriate Fire District.   

 

2. Copies of recorded easements for off-site work, including book and page information, 

will be provided.   

 

 

XII. VERIFICATION PRIOR TO FOUNDATION OR BUILDING PERMITS 

 

A. Subsequent to approval of the Site Development Plan and prior to the issuance of 

any foundation or building permit, the following requirements will be met: 

   

1. Notification of Department of Planning 

 

Prior to the issuance of foundation or building permits, all approvals from 

the above mentioned agencies and the City of Chesterfield Department of 

Public Works, as applicable, must be received by the City of Chesterfield 

Department of Planning. 

 

2. Notification of St. Louis County Department of Public Works  

 

Prior to issuance of foundation or building permits, all approvals from the 

City of Chesterfield, {the Missouri Department of Transportation 

(Department of Highways and Traffic)} and the Metropolitan St. Louis 

Sewer District must be received by the St. Louis County Department of 

Public Works. 

 

 

3. Certification of Plans 

 

Provide verification that construction plans are designed to conform to the 

requirements and conditions of the Geotechnical Report.  The 

Geotechnical Engineer will be required to sign and seal all plans with a 

certification that the proposed construction will be completed in 

accordanceance with the grading and soil requirements and conditions 

contained in the report. 

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 13 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

XIII. OCCUPANCY PERMIT/FINAL OCCUPANCY 

 

A. The developer shall cause, at his expense and prior to the recording of any plat, the 

reestablishment, restoration or appropriate witnessing of all Corners of the United States 

Public Land Survey located within, or which define or lie upon, the outboundaries of the 

subject tract in accordance with the Missouri Minimum Standards relating to the 

preservation and maintenance of the U.S. Public Land Survey Corners. 

 

B. Prior to final occupancy of any building the developer will provide certification by a 

Registered Land Surveyor that no U.S. Public Land Survey Corner has been disturbed 

during the construction activities or that it has been corrected and the appropriate 

documents filed with the Missouri Department of Natural Resources Land Survey 

Program. 

 

C. Prior to issuance of an occupancy permit, all disturbed areas will be seeded and mulched 

at the minimum rates defined in Appendix “A” of the City of Chesterfield’s “Model 

Sediment & Erosion Control Guidelines” or sodded.  A temporary occupancy permit 

may be issued by the Department of Planning in cases of undue hardship because of 

unfavorable ground conditions. 

 

D. The obligations and conditions set forth in this attachment are specific to the developer.  

These obligations and conditions survive the issuance building permits until they are 

fulfilled and an occupancy permit shall not be released to the developer until they are 

met. 

 

XIV. FINAL RELEASE OF ESCROW 

 

Prior to the release of final escrow, the developer will provide certification by a 

Registered Land surveyor that all monumentation depicted on the Record Plat has been 

installed and that the U.S. Public Land Survey Corners have not been disturbed during 

the construction activities or that they have been corrected and the appropriate documents 

filed with the Missouri Department of Natural Resources’ Land Survey Program. 

 

 

 

 

XV. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 

A. General development conditions relating to the operation, construction, 

improvement and regulatory requirements to be adhered to by the developer are as 

follows: 

 

1. Detention/retention will be provided for this site.   A fence complimentary to 

the office building and parking structure is required around the detention 

basin.   

 



P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse  Page 14 

Ordinance Amendment  

Planning Commission June 10, 2024  

   

2. Failure to comply with any or all the conditions of this ordinance will be              

adequate cause for revocation of permits by issuing Departments and 

Commissions. 

 

3. The City of Chesterfield, Missouri will enforce the conditions of this 

ordinance in accordance with the Site Development Plan approved by the City 

of Chesterfield and the terms of this Attachment A. 

 

4. Waiver of Notice of Violation per Section 1003.410(2) of the City of 

Chesterfield Zoning Ordinance.   

 

5. The entrance geometrics and drainage design will be in accordanceance with 

Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDot) standards and will be 

reviewed and approved by the City of Chesterfield and the Missouri 

Department of Transportation (MoDot). 

 

6. The petitioner will provide adequate detention to eliminate any additional 

water discharge to encroach MoDot right of way. 

 

7. Detention may be required for the entire project site such that the release rates 

will not exceed the allowable release rates for the post developed peak flow of 

the 2-year and 100-year, 24 hour storm event.  Stormwater must be discharged 

at an adequate discharge point.  Wetland mitigation will not be allowed in the 

detention basin area. 

 

8. The developer will cause, at his expense and prior to the recording of any plat, 

the reestablishment, restoration or appropriate witnessing of all Corners of the 

United States Public Land Survey located within, or which define or lie upon, 

the outboundaries of the subject tract in accordanceance with the Missouri 

Minimum Standards relating to the preservation and maintenance of the U.S. 

Public Land Survey Corners. 

 

9. All drainage detention storage facilities will be placed outside of the standard 

governmental agency planning and zoning setbacks, or 15 feet from the new 

or existing right of way line, whichever is greater. 

 

 

10. Non-compliance with the specific requirements and conditions set forth in this 

Ordinance and its attached conditions or other Ordinances of the City of 

Chesterfield shall constitute an ordinance violation, subject, but not limited to, 

the penalty provisions as set forth in Section 1003.410(2) of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

 

B. This document shall be read as a whole and any inconsistency to be integrated to 

carry out the overall intent of this Attachment A. 

 

 

 



Memorandum  
Department of Planning  
 

To:  City Council 
 

From: Justin Wyse, Director of Planning  
 

Date:  July 15, 2024 
 

RE:  FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd): A request for a new Facilities 

Siting Permit to install a new cell pole and accompanying infrastructure 
and a new power pole with transformer located in the City of Chesterfield 

right-of-way at the Dierbergs Meditation Park at the northwest intersection 
of Olive Boulevard and River Valley Drive (Ward 1). 

 

Summary    
Selective Site Consultants (SSC), Inc., on behalf of Verizon, has submitted a Facilities 

Siting Permit (FSP) application to furnish and install two (2) new 31’-9” tall 1’-2” 
diameter wood utility poles and accompanying infrastructure within an existing City 
of Chesterfield Right-of-Way at the Dierbergs Meditation Park at the northwest 

intersection of Olive Boulevard and River Valley Drive. 
 
The plan has proposed a new pole furnished with Verizon telecommunication 

equipment, as well as an antenna. The pole will be set back 12.1’ from the back of 
the curb to River Valley Drive and will be located in between two existing intersecting 

sidewalks. There is an additional proposed pole and transformer to be installed by 
Ameren, located southwest of the one to be installed by Verizon. The two poles will be 
connected via a 2” underground conduit running almost parallel to the existing 

sidewalk. 
 
The Planning & Public Work Committee reviewed the project on June 6, 2024 and a 

request to hold was made. The Committee requested clarification on the regulatory 
role of the City in regard to facility siting permit applications. The applicant reiterated 

that the sites were statigically chosen by Verizon, as they had to decommission a 
macro rooftop, and the chosen pole locations allow coverage of that area. They also 
cited Missouri House Bill 1991, Section 67.5133(3), as written below: 

 
(3) An authority shall not require the placement of small wireless facilities on 

any specific utility pole or category of poles or require multiple antenna 
systems on a single utility pole; 

 

The Planning and Public Works Committee reviewed the project again on June 20, 
2024, and a motion to recommend approval was made by a vote of 3 to 1. There were 
still concerns about the location of the proposed pole. The committee requested that 

Staff notify the trustees of adjacent resindetial subdivisions prior to being heard by 
City Council.  



FSP 60-2023 13703 Olive Blvd   City Council Report 

(VERIZON)   July 15 2024 

 

 
 

Figure 1: Subject Site 



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

T-1TITLE SHEET

SITE INFORMATION AREA MAP

LOCATION MAP

LESSOR:

PHONE:

ENGINEER:

FAX:
(913) 438-7700
(913) 438-7777

10740 NALL AVE SUITE 400

PHONE:

VERIZON WIRELESS

OVERLAND PARK, KANSAS 66211

FAX:
(913) 438-7700
(913) 438-7777

1A INFORMATION:

E911:

EQUIPMENT &  POWER INFO:

CONSULTING  TEAM

DRAWING NOTICESSC, INC.
7171 WEST 95TH STREET, SUITE 600
OVERLAND PARK, KANSAS  66212 VZW CONTRACTOR:

· FURNISH AND INSTALL NEW  POLE
WITHIN AN EXISTING
RIGHT-OF-WAY.

· INSTALL TELECOM EQUIPMENT ON
NEW POLE

· INSTALL TELECOM ANTENNA ON
NEW POLE INSTALL NEW POWER
SERVICE

· INSTALL NEW VZW DARK FIBER
SERVICE

APPLICABLE CODES

SITE
LOCATION

SITE
LOCATION

SHEET NO SHEET TITLE ENGINEER

DRAWING INDEX

MDG LOCATION #:
5000889198

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

POLE DESCRIPTION:

31'-9" TALL 1'-2" DIAMETER WOOD UTILITY POLE SMALL CELL

QR CODE

verizon

JURISDICTION:
CITY OF CHESTERFIELD,
690 CHESTERFIELD PKWY W
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI 63017

T-1 TITLE SHEET C/E

GN-1.0 GENERAL NOTES (1 OF 2) C/E
GN-1.1 GENERAL NOTES (2 OF 2) C/E

- SURVEY (BY OTHERS)

CA-1.0 SITE PLAN
CA-2.0 POLE ELEVATION

EE-1.0 ELECTRICAL DETAILS

EG-1.0 GROUNDING RISER DIAGRAM

CA-3.0 EQUIPMENT DETAILS (1 OF 2)
CA-3.1 EQUIPMENT DETAILS (2 OF 2)

CA-4.0 CABLE DIAGRAM & DETAILS
CA-5.0 FOUNDATION DETAILS

FILE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC - Rev 2 - 042424

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

SITE ADDRESS:

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

CTCP TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/20245/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

GN-1.0
GENERAL NOTES

(1 OF 2)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/20245/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

GN-1.1
GENERAL NOTES

(2 OF 2)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/20245/15/2024



DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-1.0SITE PLAN

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-2.0POLE
ELEVATION

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-3.0
EQUIPMENT

DETAILS (1 OF 2)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-3.1
EQUIPMENT

DETAILS (2 OF 2)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-4.0
CABLE

DIAGRAM &
DETAILS

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

A-5.0FOUNDATION
DETAILS

’ 

’ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

TCPTRAFFIC
CONTROL PLAN

RIGHT
LANE

CLOSED
AHEAD

UTILITY
WORK
AHEAD

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

E-1.0ELECTRICAL
DETAILS

Site ID
FCC ID

Please Reference Site ID
Phone: (800) 264-6620

E-mail: nocwestleads@verizonwireless.com

In case of Emergency Contact

VERIZON WIRELESS

Site ID
FCC ID

Please Reference Site ID
Phone: (800) 264-6620

E-mail: nocwestleads@verizonwireless.com

In case of Emergency Contact

VERIZON WIRELESS

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



THIS DRAWING HAS NOT BEEN PUBLISHED AND IS THE SOLE
PROPERTY OF SSC, INC. AND IS LENT TO THE BORROWER FOR
THEIR CONFIDENTIAL USE ONLY, AND IN CONSIDERATION OF

THE LOAN OF THIS DRAWING, THE BORROWER PROMISES AND
AGREES TO RETURN IT UPON REQUEST AND AGREES THAT IT

WILL NOT BE REPRODUCED, COPIED, LENT OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, NOR USED FOR ANY

PURPOSE OTHER THAN FOR WHICH IT IS FURNISHED.

DRAWING NOTICE:

SHEET #:SHEET DESCRIPTION:

STATE OF MISSOURI

STATE CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION  # EF-2791

ENGINEER: PE#: DISCIPLINE:

KMV KEVIN M. VANMAELE 21561 CIVIL C
REJ ROBERT E. JENSEN 28974 CIVIL C

SDK SHELTON D. KEISLING E-27323 ELECTRICAL E
TMS TERRANCE M. SUPER E-18521 ELECTRICAL E

ENGINEERING LICENSE:

STAMP:

PLANS PREPARED BY:

PLANS PREPARED FOR:

7171 West 95th Street, Suite 600
Overland Park, Kansas 66212

Phone: 913-438-7700
Fax: 913-438-7777

SS C

REVDESCRIPTION DATE BY
SUBMITTALS:

ISSUED FOR REVIEW 01/20/22 CZW A

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/13/22 CJO B

REISSUED FOR REVIEW 10/18/23 ABT C

ISSUED FOR CONSTRUCTION 12/18/23 DSL 0

REISSUED PER CLIENT COMMENTS 03/14/24 ABT 1

REVISED PER POWER COORD 04/24/24 DSL 2

verizon

MDG LOCATION #:

SITE ADDRESS:

SITE NAME:

STLC CHF FS 03SC

5000889198

13703 OLIVE BLVD
CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI

63017

G-1.0GROUNDING
RISER DIAGRAM

DocuSign Envelope ID: 706BAA38-14C3-421E-A67D-76810588AF6F

5/15/2024



FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 

Chair:  Councilmember Barb McGuinness 
Vice-Chair:  Councilmember Michael Moore 

 
A. Insurance Damage Settlement:  The Finance and Administration 

Committee unanimously endorsed depositing the $831,807 in net 

positive insurance revenue, and reserved to satisfy future insurance 
deductibles, repairs and or replacements where it is undesirable to file a 
claim.  Managing the unspent insurance proceeds in this manner will 

fund insurance deductibles for a number of years, provide for reduced 
claim submissions, and result in more accurate and reduced annual 

budgets. (Roll Call vote) 
 

B. Repeal City Council Policy PDS No.1 – Chesterfield Historic and 

Landmark Preservation Committee:  The Finance and Administration 
Committee unanimously recommends the repeal of Planning Policy #1, 

which would effectively dissolve the CHLPC as a Citizen’s Advisory 
Committee.  The Committee also unanimously endorsed passage of a 
proposed ordinance to transfer the regulatory responsibilities to the 

ARB.  This proposed ordinance has been forwarded to the Planning 
Commission for action, as required by Missouri Statutes, and their 
recommendation will subsequently be forwarded to the PPW Committee 

and then City Council for action at a future meeting. (Voice Vote) 
 

C. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled 
 
There are no Finance and Administration Committee items scheduled for tonight’s 

meeting. 
 

NEXT MEETING 
 
The next Finance and Administration Committee Meeting has not yet been 

scheduled. 
 
If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact Finance 

Director Jeannette Kelly or me prior to Monday’s meeting.   
 

 
 



TO: Finance and Administration Committee

Date:  June 25, 2024

RE: Insurance damages, payout

As we have shared previously, a significant storm passed through the City on April
1st, 2024, and caused substantial hail damage to vehicles and additional damage to
the membrane roof at City Hall, including internal water damage.  We actively
pursued insurance claims.  We previously advised Council that the vehicle hail
damage was valued at $243,086.  Our coverage provides a $100,000 deductible for
the fleet and we were issued a check from our carrier in the amount of $143,086.
Subsequently, on 5/31/2024, I advised Council regarding the settlement and
shared that we had elected to repair only three of the damaged vehicles at an
estimated cost of $19,000 and we would deposit the remainder of the insurance
payment into our Insurance Reimbursement Revenue Account.

Since that time, the insurer has completed their evaluation of our claim for damages
to the City Hall roof.  The total replacement value, less depreciation and our
$50,000 deductible, resulted in a net payout to the City of $727,722.  As previously
stated, the storm damage to City Hall includes some interior drywall, ceiling, and
ancillary water damage.  We intend to repair this interior damage using in-house
facility staff labor, with materials estimated at $20,000.

As you are also aware, the adopted 2024 budget included $330,000 in ARPA funds
for the roof replacement.  City Council approved the award and contract to W.
James Taylor Incorporated during the June 3rd City Council meeting, in the amount
of $330,000.  Inasmuch as the roof project is consuming ARPA funds, the use of
which is both use restricted and time sensitive, I recommend that we continue to
use the previously approved ARPA funds for the roof replacement contract.

The total insurance payout from our carrier for the April 1 storm event, for
vehicle hail damage and the City Hall roof replacement, was $870,807.80.
Subtracting $19,000 for vehicle repairs (as previously approved), and
$20,000 for the interior water damage repairs (by in-house labor) leaves
$831,807.80 net cash available.

We previously notified City Council, that the City’s insurance deductibles will be
significantly increased beginning with the July 1, 2024 renewal cycle.  We have been

Mike Geisel

City Administrator

690 Chesterfield Pkwy W

Chesterfield MO 63017

Phone 636-537-4711

Fax 636-537-4798

____________________________________________________________________________



Insurance Damages - payout
June 25, 2024
Page 2

notified of such by our broker and our carriers have distributed the required
notices.  As an example, our current deductible for auto damage, is $2,500 per
vehicle occurrence.  With the current renewal, that deductible will be increasing to
$20,000 per vehicle occurrence.  Those increases are typical across our municipal
property and casualty coverage.  Typically, the City has budgeted a nominal value
for insurance deductibles on an annual basis, with the knowledge and
understanding that we have no way of predicting the number of incidents or the
cumulative value of the deductibles to be paid.  Obviously, this results in instances
of over-budgeting, or under-budgeting in any given year. Those deductible payments
are charged across the various coverages, liability, police liability, auto liability,
official immunity, property and casualty, errors and omissions, cyber liability, and
others. The increase in deductibles will most certainly alter our future management
and operational decisions regarding repairs and whether insurance claims will be
initiated for individual occurrences.  In many instances, repairs could be deferred,
and in other cases, replacement may be more viable than pursuing an insurance
claim and related repair.  The other impact is on our fleet maintenance budget.  In
those events where the value of the repair is less than the deductible and no
insurance claim is pursued, fleet repairs are charged to our fleet maintenance
budget.  As you can imagine, multiple $20,000 unplanned, unbudgeted repairs
would be devastating to that particular budget.

Knowing that our deductibles are increasing significantly and the number of claims
continues to be uncertain, it is the recommendation of our executive staff that
the $831,807.80 in net positive insurance revenue, be deposited and set aside
to satisfy future insurance deductibles, repairs and or replacements where it is
undesirable to file a claim due.  Managing the unspent insurance proceeds in this
manner will fund insurance deductibles for a number of years, provide for reduced
claim submissions, and result in more accurate and reduced annual budgets.

I look forward to discussing this with the committee at our next meeting.





 

  

Central Claim Service Center 

One Progress Point Parkway 

O 'Fallon, MO 63368 

O: (800) 252-4670 

F: (800) 664-5358 

E: USPropertyClaims@chubb.com 

Mailing Address 

P.O. Box 910 

O'Fallon, MO 63366 

 

 

June 03, 2024 

 

City of Chesterfield 

690 Chesterfield Parkway W 

Chesterfield, MO 63017 

Attention: Barry Johnson 

 

Re:  Insured:     City of Chesterfield 

Claim Number:    076924013318 

Policy Number:   000035834209 

Loss Location:   Premise 1 – 690 Chesterfield Parkway W 

      Chesterfield, MO 63017 

Date of Loss:    April 01, 2024 

  Insurance Company:  Federal Insurance Company 

 

Dear Mr. Barry Johnson, 

 

In reference to the captioned claim, you will soon be receiving a check in settlement of your 

covered loss, processed, and mailed to you separately from our office.  

 

We acknowledge that on April 10, 2024, we received your claim for damage to your premise. We 

have confirmed that the damages you are pursuing are to premise: 

• Premise #1 – 690 Chesterfield Parkway W., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Hail damage to vehicles 

 

Per our conversation, you will not be pursuing damages to the following premises: 

• Premise #4: 17925 North Outer Forty Rd., Chesterfield, MO 63005 

• Premise #5: 17891 N. Outer 40., Chesterfield, MO 63005 

 

Our inspection also found no storm related damage to the following premises: 

• Premise #2: 165 Public Works Dr., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #3: 16353 Lydia Hill Dr., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #6: 631 Veterans Place Dr., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #7: 1627 Old Baxter Rd., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #8: 17057 North Outer 40 Rd., Chesterfield, MO 63005 

• Premise #9: 700 Chesterfield Pkwy W., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #10: 16032 Main Circle Dr., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

• Premise #11: 17502 Edison Ave., Chesterfield, MO 63005 

• Premise #12: 1851 Schoettler Rd., Chesterfield, MO 63017 

 

 

Below is a breakdown of the payment based on the enclosed estimate and explains how we arrived 

at the settlement amount. Please provide a copy of this estimate to your contractor.  Should there 



 

 

be any discrepancy with your contractor, please have them contact me prior to any work beginning 

for consideration of additional items beyond the scope of this estimate. 

 

  Replacement Cost Value     $1,070,997.37 

  Less Recoverable Depreciation        (50,189.57) 

  Actual Cash Value      $1,020,807.80 

  Less Deductible          (150,000.00) 

  Less Prior Payment          (143,086.13) 

  Net Claim                 $727,721.67 

 

The total payment for this claim will be in the amount of $870,807.80 which is based upon the 

reconstruction cost less depreciation and less any applicable deductible as outlined above for 

Premise 1 and the auto vehicles damaged. 

 

Your policy affords replacement cost coverage for the premises. Once the repairs have been 

completed, you or your repair provider can submit a certificate of completion with a final invoice, 

and a final check will be issued to you for the incurred loss up to the recoverable depreciation 

withheld. This is represented on your estimate as “Recoverable Depreciation” and is noted in the 

table above. The maximum recoverable depreciation payment allowed without prior approval is 

$50,189.57.  If the final cost of repairs is less than the estimated amount, you may only recover up 

to the actual amount spent to repair the damaged property less any applicable deductible. Your 

policy also requires that the repairs begin within 24 months from the date of loss or a later date if 

agreed to by us. 

 

Please mail/fax the invoices/proof of completed work to the following address: 

 

Kristin Vo-Austin 

Mailing Address 

P.O. Box 910 

O’Fallon, MO 63366 

(800) 664-5358 Fax 

Kristin.vo-austin@chubb.com Email 

 

We also wish to call your attention to the following additional coverage excerpts your Customarq, 

Building And Personal Property Contract, Form 80-02-1000 (Rev. 3-19), which states in relevant 

part the following: 

 

 

 

Loss Payment Basis The following Loss Payment Basis provisions apply. 

Subject to the applicable Limit Of Insurance shown in the 

Declarations: 

A. covered property is valued on a replacement cost basis as 

described below, unless: 



 

 

1. the Loss Payment Basis shown in the Declarations is 

Actual Cash Value; or 

2. otherwise stated under Loss Payment Basis 

Exceptions; and 

B. valuation also includes, for covered property, costs you 

incur as described below under Ordinance Or Law Or 

Green Standards, Construction Fees, Brands And Labels 

and Extended Warranties. 

 

 

 

Our Loss Payment Options In the event of loss or damage covered by this insurance, at 

our option, we will either: 

• pay the covered value of the lost or damaged covered 

property; 

• pay the cost of repairing or replacing the lost or 

damaged covered property plus any reduction in value of 

the repaired item; 

• take all or any part of the covered property at an agreed 

or appraised value; or 

• repair or replace the covered property with other such 

property of comparable material and quality for the same 

use or occupancy. 

 

 

 

Replacement Cost Basis Lost or damaged covered property will be valued at the cost 

to repair or replace such property at the time of loss or 

damage, but not more than you actually spend to repair or 

replace such property at the same or another location for the 

same use or occupancy. There is no deduction for physical 

deterioration or depreciation. 

If you replace the lost or damaged covered property, the 

valuation includes customs duties incurred. 

If you do not repair or replace the covered property, we will 

only pay as provided under Actual Cash Value Basis. 

If you commence the repair or replacement of the lost or 

damaged covered property within 24 months from the date of 

the loss or damage, we will pay you the difference between 

the actual cash value previously paid and the lesser of the: 

• replacement cost at the time of loss or damage; or 

• actual costs you incur to repair or replace. 



 

 

Payment under the Replacement Cost Basis will not be made 

until the completion of the repairs or the replacement of the 

covered property. 

 

 

  

 
 

Please compare our estimate to the estimates you may already have received or feel free to share 

our estimate with your contractor. If you or your contractor have questions regarding the scope or 

pricing of the work in our estimate, please contact me before the work begins so that we can 

resolve the issues in a timely manner. I can be reached at (913) 304-4971. If I can be of any further 

assistance, please call. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Kristin Vo-Austin 
 

Kristin Vo-Austin 

Senior General Adjuster 

Federal Insurance Company 

(913) 304-4971 Phone 

(800) 664-5358 Fax 

Kristin.vo-austin@chubb.com 

 

     

CC:  Risk-Strategies 



Writing Company

Insured Name Federal Insurance Company
Date of Loss

 Location 

Policy Number

Claim Number

Date Created

 Totals 1,070,997.37$   (50,189.57)$       870,807.80$       (143,086.13)$     727,721.67$       

Coverage Line
 Claimed 

Amount 

 Less 

Depreciation 

 Agreed 

Amount 
 Paid Amount 

 Current 

Payment 
Comments

Premise 1 - 690 Chesterfield Parkway W 824,137.29$       (50,189.57)$        723,947.72$       -$                     723,947.72$       

Debris Removal 3,773.95$           -$                     3,773.95$           -$                     3,773.95$           

Other Misc Building Coverage 243,086.13$       -$                     143,086.13$       (143,086.13)$     -$                     

Code Upgrade -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

              Statement of Loss Summary Sheet

City of Chesterfield

04/01/2024

Premise 1- 690 Chesterfield Parkway W, Chesterfield, MO 63017

000035834209

076924013318

06/03/2024



Premise 1 - 690 Chesterfield Parkway WPremise 1 - 690 Chesterfield Parkway W76,243,836.00$ 

Premise 1 - 690 Chesterfield Parkway W Details

824,137.29$     (50,189.57)$      723,947.72$     -$          723,947.72$     

 Claimed 

Amount 

 Less 

Depreciation 
 Agreed Amount  Paid  Due Vendor Date Received Date Paid Comments

 $     827,911.24  $        50,189.57  $     777,721.67  $     777,721.67 JS Held LLC Reconstruction estimate for Premise 1

 $        (3,773.95)  $        (3,773.95)  $        (3,773.95) JS Held LLC Moved to debris removal

 $      (50,000.00)  $      (50,000.00) $50,000 wind and hail deductible applies



Debris Removal Debris Removal Reasonable

Debris Removal Details

3,773.95$          -$                    3,773.95$          -$                    3,773.95$          

 Claimed 

Amount 

 Less 

Depreciation 
 Agreed Amount  Paid  Due Vendor Date Received Date Paid Comments

 $          3,773.95  $          3,773.95  $          3,773.95 JS Held LLC Debris Removal

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        



Other Misc Building CoverageOther Misc Building Coverage 2,500,000.00$ 

Other Misc Building Coverage Details

243,086.13$      -$                    143,086.13$      (143,086.13)$     -$                    

 Claimed 

Amount 

 Less 

Depreciation 
 Agreed Amount  Paid  Due Vendor Date Received Date Paid Comments

 $     243,086.13  $     243,086.13  $       143,086.13  $     100,000.00 Chubb 05/17/2024 Hail damage to vehicles

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

        

 $    (100,000.00)  $    (100,000.00) $100,000 wind and hail deductible applies



Claim 076924013318 Page 1 of 16 06/03/2024

CLAIM NO.:076924013318 Reinspection INSURED

Policy No.:

Date of Loss:

Type of Loss:

Deductible:

Year Built:

000035834209

04/01/2024    2:00 AM

Property

multiple

Cat No.:30

Adjuster: Jeffery Crain

Phone: (314) 978-2453

Email: Jeffery.Crain@Chubb.com

(City of Chesterfield)

690 Chesterfield Pkwy W 

Chesterfield MO  63017-0760

Home phone:

Business phone:

Mobile phone:

Bus. Fax:

(636) 537-4000

Loss address:

17891 N Outer 40 

Chesterfield MO  63005

Status:

Originated:

Claim Opened Age: 63d 13h Assignees:

04/19/2024, 3:18 PM by Chubb Admin (CHUBB)

Jeffery Crain + 4 others

DATES POLICY 000035834209

INITIAL LOSS REPORT

Assigned:

Contacted:

Estimated:

The severe thunderstorm came through the City of Chesterfield causing significant damages due to
high winds and hail to multiple facilities under the City of Chesterfield. There were 20 City vehicles hit
with hail that have damages either to the body of the vehicle and/or the windshields. They were parked.

Job Started:

Closed:

Overall risk condition:

Received:

Inspected:

Approved:

Completed:

04/23/2024

04/23/2024

06/03/2024

04/23/2024

04/30/2024

06/03/2024

Policy Type:

Renewed:

Effective from:

Commercial

time(s)

to:07/01/2023 07/01/2024

Coverage Limits ReserveDeductible

Building

Contents

Contact: Cathy Pagella (636) 537-
4712

Created: 04/19/2024

Hail

GENERAL COMMENTS

DAMAGES

CAUSE



General Conditions:

Claim 076924013318 Page 2 of 16 06/03/2024

General
Conditions

MEP



Roofplan:

Claim 076924013318 Page 3 of 16 06/03/2024

~6'2"

6'2"

3
/1

2

149'11"

~68'1"

2
4
'4

"
2
4
'2

"

3
3
'4

"

18'1
0"18'2"

19'1"

18'1
0"

1
8
'

1
8'
1
0"

18
'5
"

19'

18'

19'

18'5"

18'5
"

9
'6

"

8
'

14'7
"

14'10"

15'8"

14'6"

16'2
"

14
'10

"

1
4'
1
"

1
6
'

15'3
"

15'3"

15'6"

14'7
"

15
'1
1"

1
4'
7
"

7
'6

"

1
8'
7
"

18
'

~
4
2
'2

"

24'2" 24'4"

~
6
'2

"~17'2"

~23'11"

6
'2

"

~
1
7
'2

"

33'4"

32'

3/12

~
6
7
'7

"

1
4
9
'5

"~42'2"

9
9
'9

"

3
3
'1

0
"

101'

~16'2"

~
15

'3
"

1
7
'

~
15

'3
"

~
15

'7"

~16'2"

15'6"

~16'4"

~15'7"

~
15

'6
"

1
6
'

~
16

'3
"

~14'7"

16'

9
9
'6

"

7'6"

~16'2"

~
15

'7"

~
15

'3
"

9
'

99'6"11'

9
'6

"

101'6"

~
18

'1
0"

~
19

'5"

~19'8"

1
0
2
'

9'6"

1
1
'

H~34'3"

E
0
'



Interior:

Claim 076924013318 Page 4 of 16 06/03/2024

Locker Room

Conference Room Office SpaceMain Lobby

4
'2

"

5'10"

1
3
'1

0
"

6'9"
6'9"

6
'2

"
21'

8
'1

0
"

17'9"

6'
11

"

5'10" 9'

10'

1
0
'

9'

10'

1
0
'

9'

10'

1
0
'

9'



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 5 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

FLOORPLAN: General Conditions

General Conditions

Labor:

1 Site Supervision / 
Project Management

288 $117.41 HR $0.00 $0.00 $33,814.08 $0.00 $33,814.08

Full time supervision during weekend working hours for 10 hours a day for 3 months. Additional four hours of labor during weekdays 
for organization, and communication with client. 

2 General Laborer's 
Work

96 $61.28 HR $0.00 $0.00 $5,882.88 $0.00 $5,882.88

General cleanup labor to maintain safe working conditions on weekends for 4 hours per day for 3 months.

3 Site Safety 7,292.00 $1.00 SF $0.00 $0.00 $7,292.00 $1,750.08 $5,541.92

Provides daily maintenance of site safety, flagging, fall protection, lift and drop zones, and necessary materials.

Application of overtime rates by trade. 

4 Total labor hours multiplied by 0.05 to account for overtime rates. 

5 Carpenter's Work 156 $71.15 HR $0.00 $0.00 $11,099.40 $0.00 $11,099.40

6 Cleaning Laborer's 
Work

2.50 $42.04 HR $0.00 $0.00 $105.10 $0.00 $105.10

7 Drywaller's Work 12 $79.22 HR $0.00 $0.00 $950.64 $0.00 $950.64

8 Roofer's Work 744 $90.35 HR $0.00 $0.00 $67,220.40 $0.00 $67,220.40

9 Painter's Work 59.50 $65.48 HR $0.00 $0.00 $3,896.06 $0.00 $3,896.06

Permitting, Engineering, Design:

10 Taxes, Insurance, 
Permits & Fees

1 $0.00 EA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

AS INCURRED

11 Architectural/Drafting 
Fees

1 $0.00 EA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

AS INCURRED

Temporary Services:

12 Portable Toilet Per 
Month

6 $140.04 EA $0.00 $0.00 $840.24 $0.00 $840.24

Consideration to have 1 toilet up on the roof due to difficulty accessing roof.

13 Temporary hand 
washing station

6 $150.00 EA $0.00 $0.00 $900.00 $0.00 $900.00

Consideration to have 1 temporary hand washing station up on the roof due to difficulty accessing roof.

Equipment:

14 Mobilization Fee 6 $250.00 LS $0.00 $0.00 $1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 6 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

15 Forklift, Telescoping 
Boom, 3-4 Ton, 
Rental Rate, Per 
Month

3 $2,573.00 EA $0.00 $0.00 $7,719.00 $0.00 $7,719.00

16 Telescoping Boom 
Forlklift Operator 
(HR)

120 $72.96 HR $0.00 $0.00 $8,755.20 $0.00 $8,755.20

17 Scaffolding, per 
Month 5'x5'

280 $42.00 MO $0.00 $0.00 $11,760.00 $0.00 $11,760.00

Consideration for 35 sets, 4 stacks tall, for 2 months.

18 Scaffolding, Plank, 
Per Month

140 $34.18 MO $0.00 $0.00 $4,785.20 $0.00 $4,785.20

Consideration for 70 planks for 2 months.

19 Scaffolding, Guardrail,
Per Month

40 $8.31 MO $0.00 $0.00 $332.40 $0.00 $332.40

Consideration for 20 guardrails for 2 months.

20 Scaffolding, Leveling 
Jack/Base Plate, Per 
Month

280 $5.54 MO $0.00 $0.00 $1,551.20 $0.00 $1,551.20

Consideration for 140 Jack/Base Plates for 2 months.

21 Scaffolding, Setup & 
Take Down, per 
Section

2,240 $30.63 EA $0.00 $0.00 $68,611.20 $0.00 $68,611.20

Consideration for 70 sections set up and take down 8 times for weekend only work. 

22 Temporary Chain Link
Fence (per MO) 
10'x12' Section

200 $44.40 EA $0.00 $0.00 $8,880.00 $0.00 $8,880.00

Debris Removal:

23 Sheathing, Material 
Only 3/4" OSB

134.40 $0.88 SF $0.00 $0.00 $118.27 $0.00 $118.27

Plywood to protect the flatwork from the dumpsters.

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

24 Dumpster 30 Yard 5 $754.79 EA $0.00 $0.00 $3,773.95 $0.00 $3,773.95

General Conditions - Subtotal (30 items) $0.00 $0.00 $249,787.22 $1,750.08 $248,037.14

MEP

HVAC:

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 7 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

25 Rem/Reset - Air 
Conditioning Unit, 
Rooftop

5 $10,777.44 EA $0.00 $0.00 $53,887.20 $0.00 $53,887.20

26 Rem/Reset - Heat 
Exchanger Detach 
and Reset

1 $2,987.83 EA $0.00 $0.00 $2,987.83 $5.03 $2,982.80

27 Rem/Reset - Furnace 
Vent, Gas, Double 
Wall, 8”

12.00 $54.21 LF $0.00 $0.00 $650.52 $0.00 $650.52

28 HVAC Installer's Work 90 $139.74 HR $0.00 $0.00 $12,576.60 $0.00 $12,576.60

Additional consideration for after hours work on weekends only.

29 Rem/Reset - 
Condensing Unit 1 
1/2 Ton

1 $560.89 EA $0.00 $0.00 $560.89 $5.03 $555.86

Electrical:

30 Rem/Reset - 
Lightning Rod Ground
Cable

296.67 $97.45 LF $0.00 $0.00 $28,910.49 $0.00 $28,910.49

31 Rem/Reset - Security 
System, Camera 
Dome

2 $55.75 EA $0.00 $0.00 $111.50 $0.00 $111.50

32 Electrician's Work 90 $147.57 HR $0.00 $0.00 $13,281.30 $0.00 $13,281.30

Additional consideration for after hours work on weekends only.

Plumbing:

33 Rem/Reset - Gas line 191.00 $42.19 LF $0.00 $0.00 $8,058.29 $0.00 $8,058.29

34 Plumber's Work 40 $149.66 HR $0.00 $0.00 $5,986.40 $0.00 $5,986.40

Additional consideration for after hours work on weekends only.

35 Crane, per Month 3 $25,990.68 MO $0.00 $0.00 $77,972.04 $0.00 $77,972.04

36 Crane Operator (HR) 240 $109.44 HR $0.00 $0.00 $26,265.60 $0.00 $26,265.60

Consideration for 8 hours a day for 3 months of weekend only work. Additional 2 hours per day for 12 weekends of setup/takedown 
time.

37 Safety Spotter Work 384 $61.28 HR $0.00 $0.00 $23,531.52 $0.00 $23,531.52

Additional consideration for after hours work on weekends only.One spotter on the roof and one on the ground. 

MEP - Subtotal (16 items) $0.00 $0.00 $254,780.18 $10.06 $254,770.12

General Conditions - Subtotal (46 items) $0.00 $0.00 $504,567.40 $1,760.14 $502,807.26

FLOORPLAN: Interior

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 8 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Locker Room

Length: 34'3" Width: 19'11" Height: 9' Flat

Walls: 934.50 SF Walls-subs: 934.50 SF Walls-subs-cas-bsbd: 904.21 SF

Doors: 0.00 SF Windows: 0.00 SF Openings: 0.00 SF Missing Walls: 0.00 SF

Floor: 422.44 SF Ceiling: 422.44 SF Perim (F): 103.83 LF Perim (C): 103.83 LF

Ceiling:

38 Drywall Patch, 1 to 4 
SF

4 $135.77 EA $0.00 $0.00 $543.08 $9.11 $533.97

39 Drywall Tape/Joint 
Repair

64.00 $7.08 LF $0.00 $0.00 $453.12 $6.14 $446.98

40 Prime & Paint - 
Drywall/Plaster 
Ceiling

422.44 $1.35 SF $0.00 $0.00 $570.29 $21.13 $549.16

41 Paint, 1 Coat - 
Drywall/Plaster 
Ceiling

422.44 $0.67 SF $0.00 $0.00 $283.04 $10.56 $272.48

Walls:

42 Prep & Mask For 
Painting (LF)

103.83 $1.26 LF $0.00 $0.00 $130.83 $0.00 $130.83

Floor:

43 Floor Protection (SF) 
Heavy Paper & Tape, 
After Hours

443.56 $0.65 SF $0.00 $0.00 $288.31 $0.00 $288.31

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

Miscellaneous:

44 Clean - Final Clean, 
per SF

422.44 $0.33 SF $0.00 $0.00 $139.40 $0.00 $139.40

Locker Room - Subtotal (11 items) $0.00 $0.00 $2,408.07 $46.94 $2,361.13

Conference Room

Length: 10' Width: 10' Height: 9' Flat

Walls: 360.00 SF Walls-subs: 360.00 SF Walls-subs-cas-bsbd: 348.32 SF

Doors: 0.00 SF Windows: 0.00 SF Openings: 0.00 SF Missing Walls: 0.00 SF

Floor: 100.00 SF Ceiling: 100.00 SF Perim (F): 40.00 LF Perim (C): 40.00 LF

Ceiling:

45 Remove - Suspended 
Ceiling Tiles, 2'x2' 
Very Good

40.00 $0.45 SF $0.00 $0.00 $18.00 $0.00 $18.00

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 9 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Conference Room(con't)

46 Replace - Suspended 
Ceiling Tiles, 2'x2' 
Very Good

42.00 $4.34 SF $0.00 $0.00 $182.28 $9.61 $172.67

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

Mechanical:

47 Replace - Duct, 
Flexible, Fiberglass, 
10"

20.60 $9.88 LF $0.00 $0.00 $203.53 $37.24 $166.29

Includes 3% waste on quantity.

Electrical:

48 Remove - Fixture, 
Recessed 6", Very 
Good

3 $19.20 EA $0.00 $0.00 $57.60 $0.00 $57.60

49 Replace - Fixture, 
Recessed 6", Very 
Good

3 $154.83 EA $0.00 $0.00 $464.49 $202.28 $262.21

Miscellaneous:

50 Clean - Final Clean, 
per SF

100.00 $0.33 SF $0.00 $0.00 $33.00 $0.00 $33.00

Conference Room - Subtotal (10 items) $0.00 $0.00 $958.90 $249.13 $709.77

Office Space

Length: 10' Width: 10' Height: 9' Flat

Walls: 360.00 SF Walls-subs: 360.00 SF Walls-subs-cas-bsbd: 348.32 SF

Doors: 0.00 SF Windows: 0.00 SF Openings: 0.00 SF Missing Walls: 0.00 SF

Floor: 100.00 SF Ceiling: 100.00 SF Perim (F): 40.00 LF Perim (C): 40.00 LF

Ceiling:

51 Remove - Suspended 
Ceiling Tiles, 2'x2' 
Very Good

40.00 $0.45 SF $0.00 $0.00 $18.00 $0.00 $18.00

52 Replace - Suspended 
Ceiling Tiles, 2'x2' 
Very Good

42.00 $4.34 SF $0.00 $0.00 $182.28 $9.61 $172.67

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

Mechanical:

53 Replace - Duct, 
Flexible, Fiberglass, 
10"

10.30 $9.88 LF $0.00 $0.00 $101.76 $18.62 $83.14

Includes 3% waste on quantity.

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 10 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Office Space(con't)

Miscellaneous:

54 Clean - Final Clean, 
per SF

100.00 $0.33 SF $0.00 $0.00 $33.00 $0.00 $33.00

Office Space - Subtotal (7 items) $0.00 $0.00 $335.04 $28.23 $306.81

Main Lobby

Length: 10' Width: 10' Height: 9' Flat

Walls: 360.00 SF Walls-subs: 360.00 SF Walls-subs-cas-bsbd: 348.32 SF

Doors: 0.00 SF Windows: 0.00 SF Openings: 0.00 SF Missing Walls: 0.00 SF

Floor: 100.00 SF Ceiling: 100.00 SF Perim (F): 40.00 LF Perim (C): 40.00 LF

Ceiling:

55 Drywall Patch, 1 to 4 
SF

4 $135.77 EA $0.00 $0.00 $543.08 $9.11 $533.97

56 Drywall Tape/Joint 
Repair

64.00 $7.08 LF $0.00 $0.00 $453.12 $6.14 $446.98

57 Prime & Paint - 
Drywall/Plaster 
Ceiling

4,365.60 $1.35 SF $0.00 $0.00 $5,893.56 $218.32 $5,675.24

58 Paint, 1 Coat - 
Drywall/Plaster 
Ceiling

4,365.60 $0.67 SF $0.00 $0.00 $2,924.95 $109.16 $2,815.79

Walls:

59 Prep & Mask For 
Painting (LF)

300.00 $1.26 LF $0.00 $0.00 $378.00 $0.00 $378.00

Floor:

60 Floor Protection (SF) 
Heavy Paper & Tape, 
After Hours

9,167.76 $0.65 SF $0.00 $0.00 $5,959.05 $0.00 $5,959.05

Includes 5% waste on quantity. Added additional 20% to account for covering of additional items.

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

Miscellaneous:

61 Clean - Final Clean, 
per SF

100.00 $0.33 SF $0.00 $0.00 $33.00 $0.00 $33.00

Main Lobby - Subtotal (11 items) $0.00 $0.00 $16,184.76 $342.73 $15,842.03

Interior - Subtotal (39 items) $0.00 $0.00 $19,886.77 $667.03 $19,219.74

ROOFPLAN: Roofplan

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 11 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Roof

Roof area: 31,161.60 SF Squares: 311.6 SQ Soffit: 1,773.87 SF

Eaves: 1,292.91 LF Ridge: 148.06 LF

Debris Removal:

62 Remove - Height 
Allowance, Roof 
Covering, 3 Story

98.07 $54.21 SQ $0.00 $0.00 $5,316.37 $0.00 $5,316.37

63 Remove - Sheathing, 
Roof, Treated 
Plywood, 1/2"

8,492.08 $0.85 SF $0.00 $0.00 $7,218.27 $0.00 $7,218.27

64 Remove - Flashing, 
Metal, Over 8", Less 
Than 4 Bends

296.67 $3.99 LF $0.00 $0.00 $1,183.72 $0.00 $1,183.72

65 Remove - Insulation, 
Rigid, 
Polyisocyanurate, 2"

14,899.89 $0.93 SF $0.00 $0.00 $13,856.90 $0.00 $13,856.90

Quantity adjusted to account for tapered roof system. 

66 Remove - EPDM 
Rubber Roofing, 
Mechanically 
Fastened, 60 mil.

98.07 $168.86 SQ $0.00 $0.00 $16,560.10 $0.00 $16,560.10

67 Remove - Parapet 
Wall Flashing, EPDM, 
Fully Adhered, 60 mil.

242.13 $17.28 LF $0.00 $0.00 $4,184.01 $0.00 $4,184.01

EPDM Roof:

68 Replace - Height 
Allowance, Roof 
Covering, 3 Story

98.07 $8.85 SQ $0.00 $0.00 $867.92 $0.00 $867.92

69 Replace - Sheathing, 
Roof, Treated 
Plywood, 1/2"

8,916.68 $3.55 SF $0.00 $0.00 $31,654.21 $4,993.34 $26,660.87

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

70 Replace - Flashing, 
Metal, Over 8", Less 
Than 4 Bends

311.50 $11.17 LF $0.00 $0.00 $3,479.46 $651.82 $2,827.64

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

71 Replace - Insulation, 
Rigid, 
Polyisocyanurate, 2"

14,899.89 $4.91 SF $0.00 $0.00 $73,158.46 $5,936.12 $67,222.34

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 12 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Quantity and labor adjusted to account for tapered roof system. 

72 Replace - EPDM 
Rubber Roofing, Fully
Adhered, 60 mil.

107.88 $604.27 SQ $0.00 $0.00 $65,188.65 $25,063.49 $40,125.16

Includes 10% waste on quantity.

73 Replace - Cant Strip, 
Flat Roof, Perlite

254.24 $6.71 LF $0.00 $0.00 $1,705.95 $245.98 $1,459.97

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

74 Replace - Parapet 
Wall Flashing, EPDM, 
Fully Adhered, 60 mil.

266.34 $66.92 LF $0.00 $0.00 $17,823.47 $4,860.04 $12,963.43

Includes 10% waste on quantity.

Pricing adjusted to allow for 8' parapet wall.

75 Replace - Flashing, 
Pipe Jack, Neoprene 

10 $86.12 EA $0.00 $0.00 $861.20 $408.75 $452.45

76 Replace - Roof Curb, 
Covering, EPDM

390.50 $35.95 LF $0.00 $0.00 $14,038.48 $2,061.84 $11,976.64

Includes 10% waste on quantity.

77 Rem/Reset - Roof 
Hatch

1 $211.70 EA $0.00 $0.00 $211.70 $5.38 $206.32

78 Rem/Reset - Ladder, 
Steel Fabricated, Wall
Mounted

24.00 $6.34 LF $0.00 $0.00 $152.16 $22.75 $129.41

79 Replace - Rubber 
walkway pad

396.00 $7.83 SF $0.00 $0.00 $3,100.68 $1,951.29 $1,149.39

Includes 10% waste on quantity.

80 Remove - Insulation, 
Rigid, 
Polyisocyanurate, 3"

2,530.75 $0.93 SF $0.00 $0.00 $2,353.60 $0.00 $2,353.60

81 Replace - Insulation, 
Rigid, 
Polyisocyanurate, 3"

2,657.29 $4.30 SF $0.00 $0.00 $11,426.34 $1,556.11 $9,870.23

Includes 5% waste on quantity.

82 Provides two electricians for eight hours per weekend to detach, make safe, and reattach HVAC, Satellite, and electrical runs. 

83 Electrician's Work 192 $147.57 HR $0.00 $0.00 $28,333.44 $0.00 $28,333.44

OVertime rates. 

84 Rem/Reset - Roof 
Drain, Cast Iron

6 $130.33 EA $0.00 $0.00 $781.98 $5.49 $776.49

Roof - Subtotal (25 items) $0.00 $0.00 $303,457.07 $47,762.40 $255,694.67

Roofplan - Subtotal (25 items) $0.00 $0.00 $303,457.07 $47,762.40 $255,694.67

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 13 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Subtotal $0.00 $0.00 $827,911.24 $50,189.57 $777,721.67

ACVDepreciationRCTotal TaxesTotal O&PPerUnit PriceQuantityDescription



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 14 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

MATERIALS Quantity Purchase Qty Total

Cant Strip, Flat Roof, Perlite (Replace) 254.24 LF n/a $327.97

Condensing Unit 1 1/2 Ton (Rem/Reset) 1 EA n/a $6.71

Drywall Patch, 1 to 4 SF 8 EA n/a $56.96

Drywall Tape/Joint Repair 128.00 LF n/a $38.40

Drywall/Plaster Ceiling (Paint, 1 Coat) 4,788.04 SF n/a $718.21

Drywall/Plaster Ceiling (Prime & Paint) 4,788.04 SF n/a $1,436.41

Duct, Flexible, Fiberglass, 10" (Replace) 30.90 LF n/a $74.47

Dumpster 30 Yard 5 EA n/a $3,773.95

EPDM Rubber Roofing, Fully Adhered, 60 mil. (Replace) 107.88 SQ n/a $33,417.99

Final Clean, per SF (Clean) 722.44 SF n/a $36.12

Fixture, Recessed 6", Very Good (Replace) 3 EA n/a $269.70

Flashing, Metal, Over 8", Less Than 4 Bends (Remove) 296.67 LF n/a $2.97

Flashing, Metal, Over 8", Less Than 4 Bends (Replace) 311.50 LF n/a $869.09

Flashing, Pipe Jack, Neoprene  (Replace) 10 EA n/a $545.00

Floor Protection (SF) Heavy Paper & Tape, After Hours 9,611.32 SF n/a $2,595.06

Heat Exchanger Detach and Reset (Rem/Reset) 1 EA n/a $6.71

Insulation, Rigid, Polyisocyanurate, 2" (Replace) 14,899.89 SF n/a $24,733.82

Insulation, Rigid, Polyisocyanurate, 3" (Replace) 2,657.29 SF n/a $6,483.79

Ladder, Steel Fabricated, Wall Mounted (Rem/Reset) 24.00 LF n/a $37.92

Mobilization Fee 6 LS n/a $1,500.00

Parapet Wall Flashing, EPDM, Fully Adhered, 60 mil. (Replace) 266.34 LF n/a $6,480.05

Prep & Mask For Painting (LF) 403.83 LF n/a $286.72

Roof Curb, Covering, EPDM (Replace) 390.50 LF n/a $2,749.12

Roof Drain, Cast Iron (Rem/Reset) 6 EA n/a $7.32

Roof Hatch (Rem/Reset) 1 EA n/a $11.20

Rubber walkway pad (Replace) 396.00 SF n/a $2,601.72

Sheathing, Material Only 3/4" OSB 134.40 SF n/a $118.27

Sheathing, Roof, Treated Plywood, 1/2" (Replace) 8,916.68 SF n/a $12,483.35

Site Safety 7,292.00 SF n/a $7,292.00

Suspended Ceiling Tiles, 2'x2' Very Good (Replace) 84.00 SF n/a $240.24

$109,201.24

LABOR Quantity Rate Total

1 CARPENTER ~529.43 hrs $71.15 $37,648.85

1 CLEANING LABORER ~7.20 hrs $42.04 $300.16

1 CRPT & 1 LBR ~4.97 hrs $56.00 $278.26

1 DRYWALLER ~35.96 hrs $79.22 $2,847.68

1 ELCTN & 1 LBR ~415.34 hrs $69.61 $28,910.49

1 ELECTRICIAN ~192.00 hrs $147.57 $28,333.44

1 ELECTRICIAN ~138.11 hrs $98.38 $13,587.59

1 HVAC TECHNICIAN ~172.95 hrs $93.16 $16,111.90

1 LABORER ~1,120.00 hrs $61.25 $68,611.20



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 15 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

1 LABORER ~721.46 hrs $40.85 $29,472.00

1 OPEGEX ~480.00 hrs $72.96 $35,020.80

1 PAINTER ~178.28 hrs $65.48 $11,635.39

1 PLMR & 1 LBR & .5 OPEGH ~280.00 hrs $106.26 $29,752.80

1 PLUMBER ~60.00 hrs $99.77 $5,986.40

1 PLUMBER & 1 LABORER ~114.60 hrs $70.31 $8,058.29

1 PROJECT SUPERVISOR ~432.03 hrs $78.27 $33,814.08

1 ROOFER ~5.88 hrs $147.57 $867.92

1 ROOFER ~2,476.64 hrs $90.35 $223,704.10

1 SHEET METAL WORKER ~3.09 hrs $74.71 $230.82

1 WATER REMEDIATION TECHNICIAN - AFTER HOURS ~35.56 hrs $103.12 $3,652.30

FLOORING INSTALLER ~8.16 hrs $61.05 $498.96

~7,411.66 hrs $579,323.43

EQUIPMENT Quantity Total

Air Conditioning Unit, Rooftop (Rem/Reset) 5 EA $24,134.40

Crane, per Month 3 MO $77,972.04

Final Clean, per SF (Clean) 722.44 SF $7.22

Flashing, Metal, Over 8", Less Than 4 Bends (Replace) 311.50 LF $149.52

Forklift, Telescoping Boom, 3-4 Ton, Rental Rate, Per Month 3 EA $7,719.00

Insulation, Rigid, Polyisocyanurate, 3" (Replace) 2,657.29 SF $318.87

Ladder, Steel Fabricated, Wall Mounted (Rem/Reset) 24.00 LF $36.48

Portable Toilet Per Month 6 EA $840.24

Scaffolding, Guardrail, Per Month 40 MO $332.40

Scaffolding, Leveling Jack/Base Plate, Per Month 280 MO $1,551.20

Scaffolding, per Month 5'x5' 280 MO $11,760.00

Scaffolding, Plank, Per Month 140 MO $4,785.20

Temporary Chain Link Fence (per MO) 10'x12' Section 200 EA $8,880.00

Temporary hand washing station 6 EA $900.00

$139,386.57



J.S. Held, LLC.
50 Jericho Quadrangle, Suite 117
Jericho, N.Y. 11753

Claim 076924013318 Page 16 of 16 06/03/2024

ESTIMATE: Structure (J.S. Held, LLC) Claim #076924013318, (City of Chesterfield)

Completed

Total Materials: $109,201.24

Total Labor: $579,323.43

Total Equipment: $139,386.57

Total Market Conditions: $0.00

Subtotal: $827,911.24

Add 0.00% overhead (some items excluded): $0.00

Add 0.00% profit (some items excluded): $0.00

Replacement Cost Value: $827,911.24

Replacement Cost on Coverage Building: $827,911.24

Less Recoverable Depreciation: $(50,189.57)

Net Actual Cash Value on Coverage Building: $777,721.67

Coverage Building Deductible ($0.00) applied: $0.00

Net Actual Cash Value on Coverage Building after Deductible: $777,721.67

Estimate Total on Coverage Building: $777,721.67

Recoverable Depreciation: $50,189.57

Net Coverage Building after Deductible if Depreciation Is Recovered: $827,911.24

Estimate Total on Coverage Building if Depreciation Is Recovered: $827,911.24

Net Estimate: $777,721.67

Total Net Recoverable Depreciation: $50,189.57

Net Estimate if Depreciation Is Recovered: $827,911.24

Finalization



1 | P a g e  

 

Memorandum 
Department of Public Works 
 

 

TO:   Michael O. Geisel, P.E. 
   City Administrator 
 
FROM:  James A. Eckrich, P.E. 
   Public Works Dir. / City Engineer
  
DATE:  May 24, 2024  
  
RE: City Hall Roof Replacement  
 

 
As you know, the 2024 Budget contains $330,000 in Account 137-076-5470 (ARPA) 

for the replacement of the roof at City Hall.  This is the original EDPM roof 
constructed in 2021, with an expected life of 20-25 years.  The roof has suffered from 
storm damage in 2020, 2023, and most recently the April 1, 2024 storm.  We have 

submitted an insurance claim for the storm damage and are awaiting a final decision 
from the insurance company.  If insurance will cover any of the repairs that 
reimbursement will be deposited into the City’s General Fund.  The City’s deductible 

for this type of damage is $50,000.  Regardless of whether or not this is covered by 
insurance, the roof needs to be replaced to protect the building and avoid further 

damage to the interior.   
 
The Department of Public Works publicly opened bids for this project on May 14, 

2024.  The results of the bid opening are contained in the attached memorandum 
from Civil Engineer Steve Merk.  As you can see, the one and only bid received was 

submitted by W James Taylor Incorporated in the amount of $327,753.  While it is 
disappointing to receive only one bid there were five roofing companies who attended 
the pre-bid meeting so we know the bid advertisement was received in the roofing 

community.  The bid from W James Taylor is within budget and W James Taylor has 
very positive references for this type of work.  Accordingly, I recommend that the 
City award this project to the low bidder, W James Taylor, in an amount not to 

exceed the budgeted amount of $330,000.   
 

The new Carlisle roof contains a 20-year warranty.  Should you have questions or 
require additional information, please contact me. 
 

 
 

Concurrence: ___________________________________________ 

    Jeannette Kelly, Finance Director      

 



2 | P a g e  

 

 
Action Recommended 

 
This matter should be forwarded to the City Council for consideration.  Should 

Council concur with Staff’s recommendation, it should authorize the City 
Administrator to execute an Agreement with W James Taylor Incorporated in an 
amount not to exceed $330,000 for the replacement of the City Hall roof.          



1 | P a g e  

 

Memorandum 
Department of Public Works 
 

 

TO:   James A. Eckrich – Director of Public 
Works /City Engineer 

 
FROM: Steven J. Merk – Civil Engineer 
 
DATE: May 23, 2024 
  
RE:  City Hall Roof Replacement 
  2024-PW-05 
 

 
As you are aware, sealed bids for the referenced project were opened on May 14, 

2024 at 10:00 am. There was only one (1) bidder on the project. Upon a full review of 
the submitted bid, W. James Taylor, Inc. (dba Jim Taylor, Inc.) is the lowest, 
responsive and responsible bidder with a bid of $327,753.00 (bid form attached).  W. 

James Taylor, Inc. has positive references for this type of work and has successfully 
completed projects similar to this in the St. Louis area. 
 

The project will include the removal of the original black EPDM roof and installation 
of a new black Carlisle Sure-Seal FleeceBACK Adhered Roofing System. The project 

will include the replacement of the roof material on the top rotunda and the two side 
loggia canopies. The existing HVAC units on the rotunda roof will remain in place, 
although gas and electric service lines to the units may need to be temporarily 

disconnected. Any disconnections will be done outside normal business hours. A 
dumpster and crane will be staged in front of City Hall, but an accessible route to the 

City Hall entrance will remain open at all times.  
 
I recommend requesting authorization to enter into an agreement with W. 

James Taylor, Inc.  for the City Hall Roof Replacement project in an amount 
not to exceed $330,000.  This amount includes a small contingency to allow for any 
unforeseen conditions and/or additional work as may be necessary to complete this 

project.   
 

The 2024 budget allocation for construction of this project is $330,000. 
 
 

   
 
 

 





City Hall Roof Replacement  2024-PW-05 

 

BF 2 

 
 

BID FORM 
 

The bid items shall include all materials, labor, delivery and installation necessary for  
 

Item Description Unit Qty Unit Price Price 

1 

Roof System Removal and 

Replacement 

 

LS 1 $ 459,900.00 

 

$ 459,900.00 

2 

Remove and Replace 

Damaged/Deteriorated 

Plywood Decking 

SF 100 $ 6.50 

 

$ 650.00 

3 

Remove and Reinstall HVAC 

Units (DEDUCT) 

 

LS 1 ($ 132,797.00) 

 

($ 132,797.00) 

   

 

TOTAL BID 

 

 

$ 327,753.00 

 

 



UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED
ITEM # DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

1 Roof Removal and Replacement LS 1 300,000.00$ 300,000.00$ 459,900.00$ 459,900.00$

2
Remove and Replace
Damaged/Deteriorated Plywood Decking Sq. Ft. 100 5.00$ 500.00$ 6.50$ 650.00$

3
Remove and Reinstall HVAC Units
(Deduct) LS 1 -$ -$ (132,797.00)$ (132,797.00)$

TOTAL BID $300,500.00 $327,753.00

BID TABULATION
City Hall Roof Replacement

2024-PW-05
May 14, 2024

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE Jim Taylor, Inc.

2024-05-21 2024-PW-05 Bid Tab Page 1 of 1 Printed on 5/21/2024



1 | P a g e  

 

Memorandum 

Department of Public Works 
 

 

TO:  Michael O. Geisel, P.E. 
  City Administrator 

 
FROM: James A. Eckrich, Dir of PW / City Engr 

  TW Dieckmann, Dir of PRA 
 

DATE: May 31, 2024 
  

RE: Hail Damage to Parks Vehicles 
 

As you know the City of Chesterfield experienced a severe thunderstorm on April 1, 

2024.  This storm produced hail which damaged twenty City owned vehicles parked 
at the Chesterfield Valley Athletic Complex.  The damage includes small dimples on 

the vehicle bodies and two broken windshields.  The City of Chesterfield submitted an 

insurance claim for this damage, which was assessed by Chubb Insurance.  Chubb 

estimated the cost to repair the damage of all vehicles at $243,086.  Because the City 
has a $100,000 deductible for hail damage to vehicles, Chubb will be sending the 

City of Chesterfield a check in the amount of $143,086, which will be deposited into 

Account 001-000-4920 - Insurance Reimbursement Revenue. 
 

The majority of the vehicles damaged are maintenance trucks.  Because of the 

classification of vehicle and the minor impact the damage has on the use of the 
maintenance vehicles, the recommendation of the City Staff (Parks and Public Works) 

is that these vehicles are NOT repaired.  The only repairs we are recommending are 

the repair of the two windshields and the repair of the van (PK-33), estimated at 
$19,000.  Those repairs will be completed using existing budgeted funds within 

Account 001-073-5248 – Vehicle Maintenance and Repair.  The van has been 

recommended for repair because it is not a maintenance vehicle and part of its use is 

to transport artists to/from the Chesterfield Amphitheater.   
 

While we acknowledge the body damage may impact the resale value of these 

vehicles, we do not believe the repair costs (which vary from $6,000 to $19,000 per 
vehicle) can be recouped as part of any future resale.  Further, because the majority 

of these vehicles are maintenance trucks, many of them will experience additional 

minor damage throughout their useful life.  Accordingly, our recommendation is to 
only repair the van (PK-33) and the windshields. 

 

No further action is required at this time.  This information should be forwarded to 
the full City Council for informational purposes only.  Should you require additional 

information please let us know.   

 



TO:  F&A Committee 
 

FROM:  Justin Wyse 
  Director of Planning 

 
Date:   July 1, 2024 
 

RE:   CHLPC 
 
 

At the May 13th, 2024 F&A Committee meeting, a motion was passed to begin 
preparations of code amendments to remove the regulatory role from CHLPC. 

Staff has identified three sections within the Unified Development Code to 
accomplish this. Two sections (405.02.040.B.1.e.(11) and 405.02.110.D.i) 
require minor amendments to state that any historic information identified by 

the City of Chesterfield instead of as identified by CHLPC. 
 

The second amendment in more in depth and contains the regulations for 
establishing an “H” Historic District or “LPA” Landmark Preservation Area 
overlay districts. Modifications to this section of code include removing CHLPC 

from the formality of the nominating process (e.g. conducting public hearings, 
formal reports to Planning Commission), aligning the process with similar zoning 
procedures, and modifying the process for Certificates of Appropriateness. In the 

current form of the Code, establishment of any of these overlays requires two 
public hearings (one before CHLPC and one before Planning Commission) and 

includes a detailed set of requirements of a report that must be submitted by 
CHLPC to Planning Commission. This process is substantially more in depth 
than other procedures within the City of Chesterfield. The proposed changes 

align the procedure for establishment of these overlay districts with the same 
procedures used in the UDC for other zoning requests.  
 

Additionally, with the removal of CHLPC from the regulatory side, the procedure 
for granting of a Certificate of Appropriateness has been modified. As proposed, 

any project requiring a Certificate of Appropriateness would require review by 
the Architectural Review Board before being reviewed by the Planning 
Commission. Additionally, the proposed amendment would make Certificates of 

Appropriateness subject to Power of Review. These modifications would align this 
process with similar procedures in the UDC for approval of site modifications.  

 
In all other respects, the proposed code language maintains the criteria and 
requirements of the existing code. 

 
Finally, while F&A has directed Staff to prepare this language, a formal 
recommendation to City Council on the disposition of the committee, a potential 

service agreement with a non governmental body to promote history, and costs 
associated with migrating webpages is still required. 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

\ 

  



Section 405.02.040.B.1.e.(11) of the City Code is hereby repealed and 
replaced with the following: 

 
(11) Approximate location of any historical artifacts, buildings, or 

historically significant buildings as identified by the City of 
Chesterfield Historic and Landmark Preservation Committee 
(CHLPC) or St. Louis County within the boundaries of the 

property.  
 
 

Section 405.02.060 Landmark And Preservation Area (LPA) And Historic (H) 
Designation Procedures. 

 

A) Scope Of Provisions. Nominations for an LPA or H designation shall be made 
to the City of Chesterfield Historic and Landmark Preservation Committee 

(CHLPC) and may only be submitted by the owner of record of the nominated 
property or structure, by a member of the CHLPC, or by elected members of 
the City Council. Nominations shall be submitted to the City Clerk, who will 

within seven (7) days of receipt mail a notification of intent to nominate to the 
owner of record of the nominated property. Forms and criteria for nomination 

will be available at the office of the City Clerk. 

B) Criteria For Consideration Of Nomination.  

1. The CHLPC City Council shall, after such investigation as it deems 

necessary, make a determination as to whether a nominated property, 
structure, site, area or district meets one (1) or more of the following 
criteria:  

a. Its character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or 
cultural characteristics of the community, County, State or country; 

b. Its overall setting and harmony as a collection of buildings, structures, 
objects where the overall collection forms a unit; 

c. Its potential to be returned to an accurate historic appearance 

regardless of alterations or insensitive treatment that can be 
demonstrated to be reversible; 

d. Its location as a site of a significant local, County, State, or national 
event; 

e. Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed 

to the development of the community, County, State or country; 

f. Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural 



type valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or 
use of indigenous materials; 

g. Its identification as the work of a master builder, designer, architect, or 
landscape architect whose individual work has influenced the 

development of the community, County, State or country; 

h. Its embodiment of design, detailing, materials, or craftsmanship that 
render it architecturally significant; 

i. Its embodiment of design elements that make it structurally or 
architecturally innovative; 

j. Its unique location or singular physical characteristic that makes it an 

established or familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community 
or City; 

k. Its character as a particularly fine or unique example of a utilitarian 
structure, including, but not limited to, farmhouses, gas stations, or 
other commercial structures, with a high level of integrity or 

architectural significance; 

l. Its suitability for preservation or restoration; and 

m. Its potential to yield information important to history and prehistory. 

2. Any structure, property, or area that meets one (1) or more of the above 
criteria shall also have sufficient integrity of location, design, materials, 

and workmanship to make it worthy of preservation or restoration. 

C) Public Hearing On Landmark Preservation Areas And Historic Designations. 
Upon receipt of a completed nomination of a landmark preservation area (LPA) 

or historic designation, the CHLPC shall schedule within thirty (30) days, a 
public hearing through the Department to solicit input and comment on the 

proposed nomination and guidelines for certificates of appropriateness. A 
public hearing shall be held per the requirements of Section 405.02.020 of 
this Article. 

D) Report And Recommendation Of CHLPC. The CHLPC shall within ninety (90) 
days from receipt of a completed nomination in proper form adopt by 
resolution a recommendation that the nominated LPA or historic designation 

does or does not meet the criteria for designation in this Article. The resolution 
shall be accompanied by a report to the Planning Commission containing the 

following information:  

1. Explanations of the significance or lack of significance of the nominated 
landmark or historic designation as it relates to the criteria for designation; 



2. Explanation of the integrity or lack of integrity of the nominated landmark 
or historic designation; 

3. In the case of a nominated landmark found to meet the criteria for 
designation, the following shall be provided:  

a. The significant exterior architectural features of the nominated 
landmark that should be protected; 

b. The types of construction, alteration, demolition and removal, other 

than those requiring a building or demolition permit, that should be 
reviewed for appropriateness pursuant to the provisions of this Article; 

c. Archaeological significance and recommendations for interpretation 

and protection. 

4. In the case of a nominated historic designation found to meet the criteria 

for designation, the following shall be provided:  

a. The types of significant exterior architectural features of the structures 
within the nominated historic designation that should be protected; 

b. The types of alterations and demolitions that should be reviewed for 
appropriateness pursuant to the provisions of this Article; 

c. The type and significance of historic and prehistoric archaeological sites 
within the nominated historic designation; 

d. Proposals for design guidelines and CHLPC review of certificates of 

appropriateness within the nominated historic designation; 

e. The relationship of the nominated historic designation to the ongoing 
effort of the CHLPC to identify and nominate all potential cultural 

resources that meet the criteria for designation; 

f. Recommendations as to appropriate permitted uses, special uses, 

height and area regulations, minimum dwelling size, floor area, sign 
regulations, lot size, and parking regulations necessary or appropriate 
to the preservation of the nominated historic designation, including 

recommendations for buffer zones to protect and preserve visual 
integrity; 

g. A map showing the location of the nominated historic designation area. 

E) Recommendations And Report. The recommendations and report of the 
CHLPC shall be sent to the Planning Commission within seven (7) days 

following the vote on the resolution and shall be available to the public in the 



office of the City Clerk. 

F) Notification Of Nomination. The Planning Commission shall schedule and 

hold a hearing on the nomination following receipt of a report and 
recommendation from the CHLPC that a nominated LPA or historic 

designation meets the criteria for designation. The meeting shall be 
scheduled, held and conducted in the same manner as other meetings to 
consider applications for zoning amendments or ordinance amendments. 

Notice of the date, time, place and purpose of the meeting and a copy of the 
completed nomination form shall be sent by regular mail to the owner(s) of 
record and to the nominators. 

G) Public Hearing. Oral or written testimony concerning the significance of the 
nominated landmark or historic designation shall be taken at the public 

hearing before the Planning Commission from any person concerning the 
nomination. The CHLPC may present expert testimony or present its own 
evidence regarding the compliance of the nominated landmark or historic 

designation with the criteria for consideration of a nomination set forth in this 
Article. The owner of any nominated landmark or of any property within a 

nominated historic designation shall be allowed reasonable opportunity to 
present evidence regarding significance and shall be afforded the right of 
representation by counsel and reasonable opportunity to cross-examine 

expert witnesses. The hearing shall be closed upon completion of testimony. 

H) Determination By Planning Commission. Within sixty (60) days following 
close of the public hearing, the Planning Commission shall make a 

determination upon the evidence whether the nominated landmark or historic 
designation does or does not meet the criteria for designation. Such a 

determination shall be made upon a motion and vote of the Planning 
Commission and shall be accompanied by a report stating the findings of the 
Planning Commission concerning the relationship between the criteria for 

designation of this Article and the nominated LPA or historic designation and 
all other information required by this Article. 

I) Notification Of Determination. Notice of determination of the Planning 

Commission, including a copy of the report, shall be sent by regular mail to 
the owner of record of a nominated landmark and of all property within a 

nominated historic designation and to the nominator within seven (7) days 
following the decision of the Planning Commission. 

J) Appeal. A determination by the Planning Commission that the nominated 

landmark or historic designation does or does not meet the criteria for 
designation shall be a final administrative decision reviewable under the 

Missouri Administrative Procedure and Review Act, unless the nominator or 
any owner of the nominated landmark or property within the nominated 
historic designation, within fifteen (15) days after the postmarked date of the 



notice of the determination, files with the City Clerk a written appeal to the 
City Council. Appeals and protests shall be in accordance with 

Section 405.02.190. 

K) Action By City Council. The City Council may within thirty (30) sixty (60) 

days after receiving the recommendation that the nominated landmark or 
historic designation be designated or receiving a written appeal, either reject 
the recommendation or written appeal by formal resolution or designate the 

landmark or historic designation by an ordinance. The City Council may 
hold a public hearing before enacting the resolution or ordinance and a 
written statement explaining the reasons for the action of the City Council 

shall accompany the ordinance. The City Clerk shall provide written 
notification of the action of the City Council by regular mail to the 

nominator, the appellant, and the owner(s) of record of the nominated 
landmark or of all property within a nominated historic designation. The 
notice shall include a copy of the designation ordinance or resolution passed 

by the City Council and shall be sent within seven (7) days of the City 
Council action. A copy of each designation ordinance shall be sent to the 

CHLPC, the Planning Commission, and the Director of Planning. 

L) The Designation Ordinance. Upon designation, the landmark or historic 
designation shall be classified as an LPA, landmark preservation area, or H, 

historic designation, and the designating ordinance shall prescribe the 
significant exterior architectural features, the types of construction, 
alteration, demolition, and removal, other than those requiring a building or 

demolition permit that should be reviewed for appropriateness, the design 
guidelines for applying the criteria for review of appropriateness, permitted 

uses, special uses, height and area regulations, minimum dwelling size, 
floor area, lot size, sign regulation and parking regulations. The official 
Zoning Map of the City of Chesterfield shall be amended to show the 

location of the H, historic designation, or LPA, landmark preservation area. 

M) Interim Control. No municipal zoning authorization shall be issued for 
alteration, construction, demolition, or removal of a potential landmark or of 

any property or structure identified as a potential historic designation, while 
the CHLPC, Planning Commission or City Council is considering said property 

for a LPA landmark preservation area or historic designation, unless such 
alteration, removal or demolition is authorized by formal resolution of the City 
Council as necessary for public health, welfare or safety. In no event shall the 

delay be more than one hundred eighty (180) days. 

N) Amendment And Rescission Of Designation. Designation may be amended or 

rescinded upon petition to the City of Chesterfield and compliance with the 
same procedure and according to the same criteria set forth herein for 
designation. 

https://ecode360.com/35255535#35256094


O) Applications For Certificates Of Appropriateness.  

1. An application for a certificate of appropriateness must be made prior to 

applying for a demolition permit or a building permit affecting the 
exterior architectural appearance of any landmark or any structure 

within an historic designation, including but not limited to the following:  

a. Any construction, alteration, or removal requiring a building permit 
from the City of Chesterfield; 

b. Any demolition in whole or in part requiring a demolition permit from 
the City of Chesterfield; 

c. Any construction, alteration, demolition or removal affecting a 

significant exterior architectural feature or appearance as specified in 
the ordinance designating the landmark or historic designation; 

d. Any construction, alteration or removal involving earth-disturbing 
activities that might affect archaeological resources; 

e. Any actions to correct a violation of a minimum maintenance 

standard. 

2. Applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall include 

accompanying plans and specifications affecting the exterior 
architectural appearance of a designated landmark or a property within a 
designated historic designation, and applications for building and 

demolition permits shall include plans and specifications for the 
contemplated use of the property. The Department shall forward 
applications for building and demolition permits to the CHLPC 

Architectural Review Board (ARB) within seven (7) days following the 
receipt of the application. A building or demolition permit shall not be 

issued until the CHLPC a Certificate of Appropriateness has been issued 
a certificate of appropriateness. Any applicant may request a meeting 
with the CHLPC before the application is reviewed by the CHLPC or 

during the review of the application. Application for review of 
construction, alteration, demolition, or removal not requiring a building 
permit for which a certificate of appropriateness is required shall be 

made on a form prepared by the CHLPC and available at the office of the 
City Clerk. The CHLPC shall consider the completed application at its 

next regular meeting. 

3. Stop-Work Order. Whenever the CHLPC has reason to believe that an 
action for which a certificate of appropriateness is required has been 

initiated, or is about to be initiated, or that a violation of the conditions 
of a permit has occurred, it shall request that the Director of Planning 

make every reasonable effort to contact the owners, occupants, 



contractors or subcontractors and inform them of proper procedures. If 
the CHLPC determines that a stop-work order is necessary to halt an 

action, it shall request the Director of Planning to send a copy of the 
stop-work order by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the owners, 

occupants, contractors and subcontractors, and notify them of the 
process of applying for a certificate of appropriateness. A copy of the 
proper application form shall be included in the notice. If necessary, a 

second or subsequent stop-work order may be issued for the same 
project. 

 

Section 405.02.110.D.i is repealed and replaced with the following:  
 

i. Approximate location of any historical building within the boundary 
tract, as identified by the St. Louis County Historic Building 
Commission or the City of Chesterfield. 

 



PARKS, RECREATION AND ARTS COMMITTEE 
Chair:  Councilmember Budoor 
Vice Chair:  Councilmember Monachella  

 
A. Proposed Resolution No. 499 - Municipal Parks Grant RD-25 Central 

Park Playground:  The Parks, Recreation and Arts Committee 

unanimously recommended submission of a Municipal Parks Grant 
application for the Central Park Playground, and approval of the 

proposed, required resolution of support. (Voice vote) 
 
B. Aquatic Facility Replacement Strategy:  The Parks, Recreation and 

Arts Committee unanimously endorsed the aquatic Facility Replacement 
Strategy dated June 21st, 2024, prepared by City Administrator Geisel.  

Task one of the seven tasks outlined in the strategy has been completed 
and task two involves soliciting and funding a design consultant for the 
entire project, but whose first tasks would be to conduct additional public 

engagement and develop the preliminary design and cost estimates which 
would be used to develop funding strategies.  (Voice vote)   

 

C. Central Park Forest Management:  The Parks, Recreation and Arts 
Committee unanimously endorsed a $100,000 budgetary transfer from 

the Parks Fund – Fund Reserve in the full amount of a four-year Forest 
Management program, and to authorize a multi-year contract with Native 
Landscape Solutions, both of which are contingent on receiving the 2024-

2025 Missouri Department of Conservation grant which would reimburse 
half of the City’s year one expenditures.  (Roll call vote) 

 
D. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled  

 

 
NEXT MEETING 
 

The next meeting of the Parks, Recreation and Arts Committee has not yet been 
scheduled. 

 
If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact Parks, 
Recreation and Arts Director TW Dieckmann or me prior to Monday’s meeting. 

 
 



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Mike Geisel, City Administrator 
 
FROM: TW Dieckmann, Director of Parks, Recreation & Arts  
 
SUBJECT: Municipal Parks Grant RD 25 - Central Park playground 
 
DATE: June 21, 2024 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Applications are currently being accepted for round 25 (RD25) of the St. Louis County Municipal 
Parks Grant. It is my understanding the city has received fifteen “MUNI grants” over the years.  
Most recently $525,000 in each of rounds 21 and 22 to construct Logan Park and $575,000 in 
RD24 to renovate Miracle Field surface, scoreboard and playground at CVAC.  The CVAC 
playground is complete.  The Miracle Field improvements are scheduled for July. 
 
Our RD25 application will include replacing Central Park playground with a larger, more colorful 
and creative modern design taking up the full space.  Central Park is the focal point of our park 
system.  This playground is a centrally located and highly visible amenity adjacent to our aquatic 
center, two popular picnic pavilions, the amphitheater, and surrounding lake and trails.  It sees a 
high amount of usage. 
 
The current playground was installed in 2001.  It is showing significant signs of wear, discoloration, 
and occasional repairs.  Several parts are no longer available.  And, for the size of the playground 
surface area, there is a significant amount of wasted, unused space.  The playground is well past 
its useful life, and is recommended for replacement in the 2019 Parks Master Plan. 
 
Attached is a proposed resolution authorizing our submission of the RD 25 grant application.  The 
maximum grant award is $575,000 this round, the same as last year.  A 5% city match improves 
our application score.  We plan to request $575,000 in our grant application, and include a city 
match of $725,000, which exceeds the 5% and will improve our score.  A quote and color 
renderings are also attached. 
 
I request this be forwarded to the Parks, Recreation & Arts Committee of Council for 
action at their July 2, 2024 meeting.  If supported, it would move forward for City Council 
approval at their July 21, 2024 meeting.  Both PRA and F&A Committees of Council have 
previously endorsed submission of the Central Park playground for this round.  The grant 
deadline is August 30, 2024.  If awarded, we will return to Council for project authorization and 
funding at a later date.  Please let me know if you have questions or need more information. 

 

Please forward to PRA committee for their confirmation and rec-
ommendation to approve the required resolution.

                        2024-6-25
Staff recommendation approved 4-0 by PRA Committee of Council at July 2, 2024 meeting.

7-5-24



Chesterfield Parks, Recreation & Arts Master Plan

87

8.2.1  Critical Projects – Maintaining What We Have
This section outlines the projects that focus on the repair of existing parks, facilities, and amenities. 

• Central Park Amphitheater Steps and Fencing is being addressed as needed from regular inspections.  For this reason, no 
dollar amount is allocated to this project.

• Central Park Aquatic Center has a pool that need repair and has a fundable project and is designated in the CIP Prioritization 
in Table 4.

• Eberwein Trail Paving has been identified as a fundable project and is designated in the CIP Prioritization in Table 4.

• Central Park Playground Unit and Surfacing has been identified as approaching lifecycle replacement.  While this project has 
an identified dollar amount, the Department has been exploring grants that could cover a significant portion of the project 
and plans to apply.  The Department continues to inspect the playground and these inspections may lead to this project 
changing the year in which it is planned to be addressed through the efforts from the preventative maintenance program.  

• Chesterfield Valley Athletic Complex Playground Unit and Surfacing has been identified as approaching lifecycle replacement 
and enhancement.  While this project has an identified dollar amount, the Department has been exploring grants that could 
cover a significant portion of the project and plans to apply.  The Department continues to inspect the playground and these 
inspections may lead to this project changing the year in which it is planned to be addressed through the efforts from the 
preventative maintenance program.  

CRITICAL PROJECTS 
Location Facility / Amenity / 

Infrastructure Project Criteria Code Source of Need

Central Park Amphitheater Steps/Fencing Structural Integrity
Inspection of 

integrity from initial 
identification

Central Park Pool Pool repair Structural Integrity
Inspection of 

integrity from initial 
identification

Eberwein Park Trail Trail Paving Function
Inspection of integrity 
for extended use from 

initial identification

Central Park Playground
Playground Unit & 

Surfacing
Replacement

Existing Capital 
Improvement Plan and 

regular inspections

Chesterfield Valley 
Athletic Complex

Playground
Playground Unit & 

Surfacing
Replacement Regular Inspections

Table 1:  Critical Projects

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight



91

Chesterfield Parks, Recreation & Arts Master Plan

Parks and Recreation Department Five-Year CIP Prioritization

Annual Funding 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

5-Year TotalPark Site Description Allocation Description Allocation Description Allocation

No Capital 
Improvement 

Projects 
planned for 

this year

Description Allocation

Central Park 
Amphitheater Steps

Annual 
Operating 

Budget

Central Park Aquatic 
Center

Repair & Paint 
pool $70,670.00 $70,670.00

Eberwein Park Trail paving $60,000.00 $60,000.00

Chesterfield Valley 
Athletic Complex

Playground 
Unit & 

Surfacing
$324,000.00 $324,000.00

Central Park
Playground 

Unit & 
Surfacing

$550,278.00 $550,278.00

TOTAL $70,670.00 $60,000.00 $324,000.00 $0.00 $550,278.00 $1,004,948.00

Analytics

Funding $70,670.00 Funding $60,000.00 Funding $324,000.00 Funding $550,278.00 
$849,000.00

  Grants $324,000.00 Grants $525,000.00

Balance $70,670.00 Balance $60,000.00 Balance $0.00 Balance $25,278.00 $155,948.00

Table 4: Five-Year Capital Improvement Projects Prioritization

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight

TW Dieckmann
Highlight



Play & Park Structures of MO 
303 Bass St. 
Park Hills, MO, 63601 
Phone: 573-631-1968 
Fax: 423-425-3124 
Email: 
scasada@playandpark.com
Contact: Steve Casada

Central Park

Chesterfield Parks, Recreation & Arts 
Attn: T W Dieckmann 
16365 Lydia Hill Drive 
Chesterfield, MO 63017 
Phone: 636-812-9500 
twdieckmann@chesterfield.mo.us 

Quote Number: 796-167075D
Quote Date: 6/14/2024

Stock ID Description Quantity Weight Unit Price Amount
RDU 5-12 Play Structure 1 23661.5 $325,190.00 $325,190.00

  60040 -- 11'POST W/O CAP ALUM 4  
  60059 -- 5"OD ALUM UPR 10'W/CAP 2  
  60089 -- 5"OD ALUM UPR W/O CAP 12 4  
  60944 -- 5"OD ALUM UPR 15'W/O CAP 4  
  71000 -- SQUARE DECK 3  
  71001 -- TRIANGLE DECK 1  
  71003 -- SEMI-HEX DECK 1  
  71031 -- RING CLAMP ASSEMBLY 125  
  71309 -- CABLE CLIMB ACROSS 1  
  71348 -- SEAT FOR TWO AND TABLE 1  
  71352 -- CRAWL TUNNEL BELOW DK 4' 1  
  71437 -- 8'TRESTLE BRIDGE 2  
  71463 -- TRANSFER MODULE 4'-0" 2  
  71475 -- DECK TO DECK STAIR 4'-0" 1  
  71512 -- SQ SLAT ROOF 2  
  71513 -- SLAT BARRIER 9  
  71529 -- 8'-0"ROPE LADDER 1  
  71532 -- HALF HEX SLAT ROOF W/EXT 1  
  71645 -- SPY BARRIER 2  
  71651 -- METAL LEAF CLIMBER 1  
  71894 -- SMALL ALPINE LINK 1  
  71896 -- SINGLE SPIRAL CASCADE SLI 1  
  71928 -- GFRC TREE W/DECK & ROOF 2  
  71930 -- DENALI TOWER BASE 1  
  71939 -- 10' BUBBLE PANEL BARRIER 1  
  71944 -- 12'CURVED TUBE SLIDE 1  
  71948 -- 12' TUBE TO OPEN SLIDE 1  
  71949 -- 12' TUBE TO OPEN-REVERSE 1  
  71964 -- Ground Level In & Out Panel 1  
  71967 -- Ground Level Take A Seat Panel 1  
  71968 -- Shop Panel 1  
  72005 -- Single Velocity Accelerator Slide8' 1  

  72064 -- OLYMPIAN CLIMBER (5'-4",6'-0",6'-
8") 1  

  72079 -- TRACKS ACTIVITY PANEL 1  
  72080 -- TREES ACTIVITY PANEL 1  
  72096 -- LOOKOUT SPLIT ENTRY 2  

 
YP300 MERIDIAN 12 FT PYRAMID TOWER BRIDGE 1 0 $17,098.00 $17,098.00
YP308 MERIDIAN LARGE COSMOS BRIDGE 1 0 $23,454.00 $23,454.00
YP390 MERIDIAN SQUARE HELIX TOWER NEXUS 1 0 $94,155.00 $94,155.00

RDU 5-12 Shaded Swing Set 1 2404 $19,340.00 $19,340.00
  65175 -- TWEEN SWING 5"OD 3  
  65180 -- TWEEN MATES SWING 5" 1  
  65223 -- SHADED SWING 2 BAY 1  

 
RDU 2-5 Early Horizons Play Structure 1 1974.8 $44,286.00 $44,286.00



7202 -- ECHO CHAMBER ASSEMBLY 1
68300 -- MINI TRIMAX W/MAX TWIST 1
68302 -- BIG ROPE 1
68305 -- MINI SPACE STEP 2
68306 -- CURVED UPRIGHT-OVERHEAD 2
68308 -- STRETCHING RINGS 1
68309 -- MINI SEAT PANEL W/AURA 1
68310 -- RAIN WHEEL 2
68311 -- DRUM LINE 1
68316 -- 4'HORIZONS VELOCITY SLIDE 1
68317 -- LARGE CABLE CLIMBER 1

RDU 2-5 Shaded Swing Set 1 2424 $21,086.00 $21,086.00
65173 -- REFLECTIONS SELFIE SWING 5" 2
65174 -- SELFIE TOT SWING 5" 2
65223 -- SHADED SWING 2 BAY 1

RDU Small Ramped Inclusive Structure 1 4265.16 $53,352.00 $53,352.00
60102 -- 5"OD AL UPR W/CAP 6'LG 2
60949 -- 5"OD ALUM UPR 7' W/CAP 2
61322 -- 5"OD AL UPR W/O CAP 8'LG 3
71002 -- ISOSCELES DECK 1
71016 -- RAMP DECK TO GROUND 1
71031 -- RING CLAMP ASSEMBLY 22
71158 -- WORD SCRAMBLE-ADA PANEL 1
71385 -- BALCONY DECK 2
71502 -- ACCESSIBLE DRIVING PANEL 1
72043 -- SM TRAPEZOID DECK 1
72060 -- 1' ROCK N WAVE 1
72096 -- LOOKOUT SPLIT ENTRY 1
72107 -- SPIRE TOPPER 3

7355 20" TWO SIDED RAIN 1 21 $1,742.00 $1,742.00
65196 SWIZZLER 1 171 $3,119.00 $3,119.00
66547 SOLO FLYER 1 95 $1,827.00 $1,827.00
67931 INGROUND MOUNT-SPRING 1 28 $185.00 $185.00
65218 INCLUSIVE ORBIT 1 794 $18,490.00 $18,490.00
65275 Double Temple Trolley 1 2423 $42,265.00 $42,265.00
65277 TempleTrolley Belt Seat Package 1 539 $6,603.00 $6,603.00
65278 Temple Trolley Made-For-Me (Yellow) 1 66 $4,627.00 $4,627.00
65280 Button Step 10" 1 26 $421.00 $421.00
67865 CUSTOM FIBERGLASS SIGN 2S 1 81 $3,702.00 $3,702.00
68115 ACTIVITY METER 2 80 $837.00 $1,674.00
71464 SLIDE TRANSFER 1 146 $3,861.00 $3,861.00
71763 ROLLER SLIDE 1 653 $18,572.00 $18,572.00
YP413 HALF SPHERE 14" 3 87 $630.00 $1,890.00
YP414 FULL SPHERE 14" 4 196 $898.00 $3,592.00
YP415 HALF SPHERE 20" 3 105 $929.00 $2,787.00
YP416 FULL SPHERE 20" 6 744 $1,497.00 $8,982.00
YP417 HALF SPHERE 28" 1 167 $1,527.00 $1,527.00
YP418 FULL SPHERE 28" 3 975 $2,636.00 $7,908.00

MUSHROOMS Freenotes Mushroom Inground Ensemble 1 0 $7,349.00 $7,349.00
- Includes: Small, Medium, and Large
Mushroom

BFLY-O-IG Orange Butterfly - (With Inground Mount 
Kit) 1 0 $1,429.00 $1,429.00

BFLY-I-IG Indigo Butterfly - (With Inground Mount Kit) 1 0 $1,429.00 $1,429.00
FWR-I-IG Indigo Flower - (With Inground Mount Kit) 1 0 $1,619.00 $1,619.00
FWR-Y-IG Yellow Flower - (With Inground Mount Kit) 1 0 $1,619.00 $1,619.00

SND-LG NatureROCKS SANDSTONE BOULDER - 
LARGE 1 0 $27,880.00 $27,880.00

SND-MD NatureROCKS SANDSTONE BOULDER - 
MEDIUM 1 0 $17,158.00 $17,158.00

PIP 16,760 SF OF PIP 1 0 $392,955.00 $392,955.00
- Scope: POURED IN PLACE. COLOR IS 50/50
BLACK/STANDARD. *COLOR IS 100% FOR
MOUNDS. 5.25" THICKNESS FOR 12' CFH.
MOUNDS CONSTRUCTED BY OTHERS.
INCLUDES GRAPHICS AND LOGOS AS



SUBMITTED. - lines on graphics will be a 
minimum of 4" or thicker; at the discretion of 
the installer 4" THICK STONE BASE BY 
OTHERS. OMNIA PRICING INCLUDED. 
PREVAILING WAGE.

DUMPSTER DUMPSTER 5 0 $1,115.00 $5,575.00
INSTALL PREVAILING WAGE INSTALLATION 1 0 $256,165.00 $256,165.00

- Install ONLY as per prints provided. Quote
Number: 796-167075B. Price includes saw
cutting and disposal of 160 footer holes.
Workstation - VelocityLT with Recycled Plastic
Lumber and Shipping. Vinyl-Wrapped
Designated Areas with Customer-Supplied
Graphics. Two (2) Bench Backs or table sides.
BOGO for graphics.

DISC TABLE DISCOUNT 1 0 ($10,000.00) ($10,000.00)
- ______

INSTALL
Mounds are a combination of compacted 
rock aggregate and concrete needed for 
equipment footers.

1 0 $17,820.00 $17,820.00

INSTALL Dumpster for Install 6 0 $1,155.00 $6,930.00
INSTALL Removal of Existing Surfacing 1 0 $41,480.00 $41,480.00
INSTALL Removal of Existing Equipment 1 0 $16,500.00 $16,500.00
INSTALL Dumpster for Removal 16 0 $1,155.00 $18,480.00
CUSTOM CUSTOM CHESTERFILD ARCH 1 0 $4,000.00 $4,000.00

RDU Surface Mount Plates 1 134 $2,542.00 $2,542.00
60855 -- 1 5/16"BASE PLATE PKG 2
60856 -- 1 5/8"BASE PLATE PKG 2
60857 -- 1 7/8"BASE PLATE PKG 1
60861 -- 5"BASE PLATE PKG 11

BOND PERFORMACNE & PAYMENT BOND FEES 1 0 $19,521.63 $19,521.63

Pricing per National IPA / OMNIA Partners Public Sector Contract 
#R220202._________ Please reference contract number on your 
purchase order made out to Play and Park Structures. ____________ 
Taxes not included. If the customer is not exempt, taxes will be added 
to the total. 

Total Weight:42232.46 SubTotal: $1,562,186.63
Discount: $270,172.24

Estimated Freight: $28,949.17
Total Amount: $1,320,963.56

THIS QUOTATION IS SUBJECT TO POLICIES IN THE CURRENT PLAY & PARK STRUCTURES CATALOG AND THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS. OUR QUOTATION IS BASED ON SHIPMENT OF ALL ITEMS AT ONE TIME TO A SINGLE DESTINATION, UNLESS NOTED, AND 
CHANGES ARE SUBJECT TO PRICE ADJUSTMENT. PURCHASES IN EXCESS OF $1,000.00 TO BE SUPPORTED BY YOUR WRITTEN PURCHASE 
ORDER MADE OUT TO PLAY & PARK STRUCTURES, C/O Play & Park Structures of MO. 

Pricing: f.o.b. factory, firm for 30 days from date of quotation. 

Freight charges: Prepaid & added 

Installation: A certified Play & Park Structures Installer is recommended for play equipment installation. Customer shall be responsible for 
scheduling coordination and site preparation. Site should be level and permit installation equipment access. Purchaser shall be responsible 
for unknown conditions such as buried utilities, tree stumps, bedrock or any concealed materials or conditions that may result in additional 
labor or material costs. 

Submittals: our design proposal reflects the spirit and intent of the project plans and specifications. While some variations may exist 
between our quotation and the project design, the differences do not materially affect the intended use. Play & Park Structures designs and 
specifications are unique and not intended to be identical in all respects to other manufacturers. We shall submit for review and approval 
by the owner's representative detailed drawings depicting the equipment to be furnished accompanied by specifications describing 
materials. Once approved, these drawings and specifications shall constitute the final documents for the project and shall take precedence 
over all other requirements. 

Exclusions: unless specifically included, this quotation excludes all site work and landscaping; removal of existing equipment; acceptance 
of equipment and off-loading; storage of goods prior to installation; equipment assembly and installation; safety surfacing; borders and 
drainage provisions. 















 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. _____________  

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF CHESTERFIELD TO APPLY FOR A 
MUNICIPAL PARKS GRANT IN ROUND 25 FOR CENTRAL PARK PLAYGROUND 
REPLACEMENT.   

WHEREAS, the city is an expanding municipality in the growing county of St. Louis and,  

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it necessary to improve and expand their public parks, 
recreation and arts to serve the citizens, as well as the traveling public and,   

WHEREAS, the Parks, Recreation & Arts department seeks to make improvements at 
Central Park, to better serve all populations and users,   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CHESTERFIELD, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS:   

Section 1.  An application should be made to the Municipal Parks Grant Commission of St. 
Louis County for a grant in aid to fund a playground replacement at Central Park.   

Section 2.  That a project proposal for Central Park playground replacement be prepared and 
submitted to the Municipal Parks Grant Commission.   

Section 3.  If a grant is awarded, the City of Chesterfield will enter into an agreement with the 

Commission regarding said grant.   

 

 

Passed and approved this _____ day of _____________________, 2024.  

 

 

_____________________________  
Bob Nation, Mayor   

 

_____________________________  
Presiding Officer   

ATTEST:  

____________________________  
Vickie McGownd, City Clerk  

 



TO: Mayor and City Council 

Date: June 21, 2024

RE: Chesterfield Aquatic Facility Replacement Strategy 

One of Council’s established goals and objectives for 2024 was to create and present
a proposed strategy for moving forward with the desired demolition and replacement
of the aged City Aquatic facility.  This memo includes the strategy for “how we can
get there”.

The City previously funded a statistically valid community survey to assess the 
community’s desires and expectations regarding the future disposition of the 
existing facility.  That study was conducted by Waters Edge Aquatic Design and 
Capri Pools and Aquatics. Ultimately the study produced a final report.              
That report was reviewed by the Parks, Recreation and Arts Citizen’s Advisory 
Committee (PRACAC), the Parks, Recreation and Arts Committee of Council (PRA), 
and City Council as a whole.  The report includes public feedback, summary 
recommendations, six conceptual scenarios, and opinions of probable cost.  On 
February 2, 2024, City Council voted unanimously to approve the final report as 
presented and directed staff to develop a strategy for complete replacement of the 
aquatic facility.

This proposed strategy is provided herein for Council consideration and acceptance.  
If approved, staff will immediately proceed to prepare a “Request For Proposals” 
(RFP), soliciting interest, qualifications, and project approach from qualified aquatic 
design professionals.  Please note, selection of a design consultant is based on a 
qualification-based process.  The State of Missouri, and the City of Chesterfield 
purchasing requirements require that consultants for professional services be 
selected based on their qualifications and experience, not bid as a commodity.

The proposed scope of work for the design professional includes additional 
supplemental public engagement, beyond the engagement previously completed by 
the Waters Edge survey.  The design services portion of the strategy is proposed to 
be funded by the Parks Fund – Fund Reserve. A separate decision regarding 
engaging an owner’s representative will be addressed during the upcoming budget 
workshops. The subsequent construction financing is not currently addressed, is 
complicated, and is dependent upon the product produced by the design 
professional.  That product will then be used to develop the proposed strategy to 

Mike Geisel 

City Administrator 

690 Chesterfield Pkwy W

Chesterfield MO 63017

Phone 636-537-4711

Fax 636-537-4798

____________________________________________________________________________



CFAC replacement strategy
June 21, 2024
Page 2

fund construction.  That financing strategy can only be developed after the design
and cost estimates have progressed sufficiently to provide adequate information to
create a reasonable level of confidence.

Task 1 – develop the vision and concept design plan
Complete citizen survey for aquatic center, including discussion of facility
elements. – completed

City Council determines plan for future of aquatic center. - completed

City Council unanimously agreed to move forward with a planned
complete demolition and reconstruction of a community aquatic center,
not a destination aquatic center.

City Council directed staff to prepare strategy for reconstruction, including
financing proposal.  – IN PROGRESS, THIS IS THE STRATEGY DOCUMENT
REQUESTED

Task 2 – Aquatic Center preliminary design
Seek professional design firm to develop concept plans, construction plans,
construction estimates, construction scheduling and provide construction
services;

Consider and make a determination as to whether the City should contract
with a professional “owner’s representative – contract manager” for this
project, or should the City manage the project with “in-house” project
management.

Seek City Council approval of strategy and funding for the preliminary design
consultants.

For the purposes of this strategy, and using a project construction
budget of $20 million, we can anticipate that the design consultant fees
to be ~$800,000.

Please note, this estimate reflects the cost of services for the design
consultant.  If the City elects to utilize a project construction manager,
those services would be a separate expense, a separate fee and separate
contract with an associated expense between $400k and $800k,
depending on final scope and project timeline.

For the preliminary design services to proceed in a timely manner, to
initiate the public engagement process as soon as practicable and to
refine the project financial needs as soon as possible which would allow
us to identify potential funding mechanisms for the demolition and
reconstruction.  The professional design services are not an annual
operational expense and as such, I recommend that the aquatic



CFAC replacement strategy
June 21, 2024
Page 3

design consultant be funded immediately after their selection, by
a transfer from the Parks Fund – Fund Reserve.  The Parks Fund –
Fund Balance is projected to be in excess of $5 million at the end
of 2024 (12/31/2024).  While the Parks Fund will have other
future capital needs, decisions related to the future of the aquatic
facility are an absolute priority due to the age and condition of
our existing facilities.  The professional services contract would be
itemized by activity, e.g. preliminary design & public engagement,
design and construction documents, Bidding and award, and finally
construction services such that the City would only be obligated for
services rendered in the event the City is unable to fund the
construction of the project.

I also recommend that when Council approves the fund transfer and
design contract, that they express the expectation that the design
expense will be reimbursed if funded by debt.  While the funding
mechanism cannot be determined until a more accurate cost estimate is
provided, the City should preserve its ability to be reimbursed for the
design services.  Such expression does not commit the City to do so,
but failure to make such a statement will most certainly limit the City’s
future ability to be reimbursed.

Initial Project concept level estimates are roughly $20 million.  It must
be understood that this is not an actual construction estimate, but
simply represents the best information currently available for the
project.  Budgetary estimates will be provided by the design
professionals as the project proceeds.

Staff prepares “Request for proposals” soliciting proposals from
professional design firms, with specific expertise in aquatic facility
design and operation, to provide these services on behalf of the City.
The scope of work will include at least, but not limited to:

Public engagement regarding project elements, not less than three
public meetings providing for full public interaction, allowing the
public to express their expectations for the new proposed aquatic
facility.

Prepare a preliminary aquatic facility plan, based on input from
all stakeholders, accompanied by an initial construction estimate
(including demolition) and initial   schedule for project
commencing with the closure of the existing facility and
proceeding through construction and opening the new facility for
public use. It should be understood that the preliminary
project cost estimates prepared at this phase are not final
cost estimates, but will include both design and
construction contingencies, as well as project escalation
estimates.



CFAC replacement strategy
June 21, 2024
Page 4

City Council shall consider and provide approval of the concept
design and initial project cost estimates before the professional
consultant(s) are authorized to move to the construction
design\development phase of the project.  It should be further
understood that the project cost estimates will evolve and be
continuously revised as design details, construction methods,
schedule and market pricing considerations begin to be resolved.

Task 3 – Aquatic Center Financing (to be done concurrently with Task 4)

Upon approval of the preliminary concept design and cost estimates approved
by City Council as referred to herein, task #2, Staff will provide a
recommendation to City Council for project funding.

I anticipate that some may suggest that the project financing be committed
prior to engaging the design professional and expending funds to define the
project components and create a preliminary design.  Unfortunately, that is
simply not practical.  To establish funding, to seek public consent, without a
full understanding of the project and the associated costs, cannot end well.
The public, as well as the City, must know what the project is and how much
it will cost.  There are numerous examples of failed projects where
communities have proceeded with projects lacking a fundamental knowledge
of scope and expense, only to face massive project funding shortfalls and
underwhelming project results by not meeting the public expectations.

It must be understood that the City of Chesterfield does NOT have the
capacity to fund this project with current revenue streams and a public
financing component will likely be required.  While it is probable that some
portion of the project costs will be offset by other revenues, e.g. TIF, Parks
Fund reserves, those funding sources simply are insufficient to fund this
project in its entirety.  It is impossible to provide a specific financing strategy
until the scope, expense, and project timeline is defined.

Finally, this phase of the project will include a public informational
campaign\effort, to ensure that the public is fully informed as to the project
and costs related thereto.  Council may determine that a third-party
consultant be engaged to assist in this function.

Task 4 – Aquatic Center construction design and development
This phase of the project will authorize the design consultant to proceed to
the design development, construction documents, code compliance, agency
approvals, permitting, and refinement of the construction schedule and cost
estimates.

During the design and development stage, City officials will consult with
neighboring communities to determine whether opportunities exist to
negotiate sharing their aquatic facilities during the construction period when
the Chesterfield Aquatic facility is out of operation.



CFAC replacement strategy
June 21, 2024
Page 5

Task 5 – Aquatic Center – Approval of Financing
Inasmuch as the financing strategy is to be presented to City Council in Task
3 above, it may require a period for consideration, public engagement, or even
a ballot proposal.

Task 6 – Aquatic Center – Advertising, Bidding, and Construction
Once tasks 3 and 4 have been completed, and Financing has been obtained in
task 5, the project will be advertised for bids in conformance with statutory
requirements.  The timing of the bids will consider whether the current
aquatic facility is still in operation, and the anticipated duration of
construction.  There is no opportunity for the current aquatic facility to
remain in operation while construction is underway.

Task 7 – Aquatic Center – Facility opening and operation
Under the best conditions, I estimate that the strategy described herein could
not be completed and a new facility placed into operation prior to May of
2027.  I am concerned that even May 2027 may be overly optimistic.
However, even using the 2027 pool season as a target completion date, we
face the real possibility that our existing facility may fail prior to the
anticipated closure date, leaving us without a community aquatic facility.

We recognize that replacement of the aquatic facility is a major financial decision
and will likely require voter approval.  We have been discussing the disposition of
this facility for several years and quite frankly, we are on borrowed time.  Each year
we identify additional repairs and maintenance of obsolete components and leaks
that must be identified and resolved for the facility to remain open.  It should be
reasonably expected that we will, in the near future, be confronted with a significant
failure, which may result in the permanent closure of the aquatic facility.

I look forward to discussing this with each of you. While this document serves to
satisfy one of my established goals and objectives for 2024, more importantly, it
describes a process which if approved by City Council, provides direction for staff to
move the effort forward.  As such, I am forwarding this strategy to both the
Parks, Recreation, and Arts Committee, as well as the Finance and
Administration Committee, such that they can review and provide their
individual recommendations to the full Council for final direction.

Staff recommendation approved 4-0 by PR&A Committee of Council at July 2, 2024 meeting.

7-5-24



 

 

               Memorandum      

To:    Mike Geisel, City Administrator  

From:    TW Dieckmann, Director of Parks, Recreation & Arts  

Date:   6/20/2024 

Subject:   Central Park forest management 

 

Staff has become aware of a competitive grant opportunity from the Missouri Department of 
Conservation (MDC), providing 50% reimbursement for woodland management.  Specifically, MDC will 
reimburse 50% of the City’s contracted expenses in removing invasive species and planting native 
grasses.  Unlike the City’s fiscal year which coincides with the calendar year, this grant program cycle 
runs from July through June.   The woodland area in Central Park, between the playground and Lake 
suffers from invasive species and limited high value timber.  In hopes of leveraging the City’s resources, 
staff solicited bid proposals to perform this work, which requires a four-year work plan.  The best bid, in 
my opinion, was submitted by Native Landscape Solutions (NLS), $24,190 for year one and a total of 
$96,418 for the full four-year work plan.   See description herein for a description of the bids. 
 
The MDC grant is an annual competitive program, and we have a high degree of confidence that we will 
be successful in obtaining the grant for the 2024-2025 fiscal year.  The grant program is competitive and 
funded annually.  The City will have to apply in each of the successive program years.  Once the City is 
participating in the program, there is a reasonable expectation of continuing in the program. 
 
I recommend that the City Council authorize a budgetary transfer from the Parks Fund - Fund Reserve 
in the full amount of the four-year program, $96,418, and authorize a multi-year contract with Native 
Landscape Solutions (NLS), both of which are contingent on receiving the 2024-2025 MDC grant which 
would reimburse half of the City’s year one expenditures. 
 
Central Park is the focal point of our park system.  It includes a mature, and relatively young forest.  It 
has never had a professional forest management plan.  The current forest has undesirable plant species 
in the understory and on hillsides that lack a forest canopy.  These are often referred to as invasive 
species.  They spread, and prevent desirable seeds (oak and hickory for example) from germinating and 
growing in the understory.  This inhibits forest regeneration and future tree succession. 
 
The City lacks available labor, equipment, resources, and professional forest management expertise for 
this work.  I contacted Missouri Department of Conservation (MDC) Forester, Evan Parker, to discuss 
options and grant opportunities.  We met May 9 at Central Park, along with City Arborist, Geoff 
Wegrzyn, and Park Superintendent, Tony Moore.  Forester Parker provided the following recap and 
initial assessment. 
 



 

 

“Objectives/Summary:  We met to talk about management of the wooded areas at Central Park.  It is very 

visible with high usage, so the aesthetic value to visitors is a priority. Other goals include restoration and 

management of the forest to maintain a natural character, with an eye towards a more open oak-hickory 

forest. The first step to reaching these goals will be control of the invasive species found at the site using 

third party contractors, MDC cost-share, and follow-up work, some of which possibly by in-house staff 

and/or volunteers. Some sort of herbaceous layer or cover crop should be planted to fill the growing 

space. In the years following the invasives removal, other forestry activities including thinning and 

seedling planting could occur to help move the forest through natural succession. 

 

Existing Conditions: The focus wooded areas include the slope between parking lot/playground and the 

lake. This area is crossed by a number of paved walking trails, as well as a stream. The wooded areas are 

currently dominated by early succession species. These include white ash, redcedar, flowering dogwood, 

persimmon, sassafras, black cherry, and hackberry. The lower areas have more oaks, particularly black 

and shingle oaks. These early succession species are not inherently undesirable and some, such as 

persimmon, redcedar, and black cherry, have significant wildlife value. However, there is very little 

regeneration occurring in the forest, preventing the emergence of long-lived, valuable species such as 

oaks. This issue is worsened by the presence of a number of woody invasive species. Bush honeysuckle is 

the worst, but it is mostly relatively young and less than 5 feet tall. There are few large, strongly 

established individuals. Autumn olive is present primarily along walking trails.  Callery pear is found in the 

more open areas along the stream. There is little groundcover present other than the bush honeysuckle. 

 

Invasive Species Management: The first and most crucial step is to control the invasive species present in 

the area. Any other management activity done without adequate control will simply result in the further 

spread of invasives. All invasive species present at the site need to be controlled, not only the following 

three which are the most common. 

 

• Bush Honeysuckle:  The honeysuckle present is mostly too small for methods involving cutting, 
so foliar treatment would likely be the best approach. Foliar spraying should be done in late fall 
or early spring, when honeysuckle has leaves but native plant species do not. This ensures that 
spraying will only impact the invasive – unintentionally killing native vegetation will simply aid 
the return of honeysuckle in the next growing season.  
 

• Autumn Olive:  Autumn olive is mostly present along the trails and is much less abundant than 
honeysuckle. Nonetheless, it is essential to control autumn olive now to avoid it worsening, 
especially when growing space increases due to the killing of the honeysuckle. The 
recommended practice for autumn olive is to cut the stem, and immediately treat it with 
glyphosate. This works best if done in the growing season, but can happen at any time of year. 
 

• Callery Pear:  Pear was mostly found in the open areas along the stream and hillside. For large 
trees, cut them down and immediately apply glyphosate to the cut stump. For smaller trees, I 
recommend a foliar spray of glyphosate. Cut stump treatment is best performed in fall or winter. 
Foliar spraying must occur during growing season. Care should be taken to avoid spraying non-
target species to assist in long-term replacement by native vegetation. 

 



 

 

It is best to contract this work due to the high volume of invasives. Due to the likely abundant seedbank, 

it is important to be vigilant and conduct follow-up maintenance each year. At that point, targeted foliar 

spraying of young plants is the best approach. 

 

Planting:  Once the invasive species are killed, it is essential to fill that growing space. This is particularly 

true due to the sparse groundcover. In the first year, it is best to spread a mixture of native grass seeds in 

the treated area. Suggested species include river oats, Virginia wild rye, Canada wild rye, bottlebrush 

grass, American break grain, and Canada brome. I can provide more detailed specification of species mixes 

and seed quantity later on. Given that there will likely be a need for follow up herbicide treatment, seeding 

only grasses (which wouldn’t be affected by the herbicide) is the best investment. Grass seed also has a 

less strict window of seeding, needing to be spread by mid-March. Forbs/wildflowers would need to be 

sown earlier, and would be adversely affected by herbicides. The process simply involves broadcasting 

the seed on the ground at a specified density. 

 

Future Work:  The first step of improving forest management is invasive species control, but there is plenty 

of work to be done after that. After controlling invasives and planting native groundcover, we could 

develop a plan for improving the forest. This could involve planting trees (mostly oaks and hickories) since 

there is very little regeneration present. Most regeneration will continue to be invasives or early 

succession species currently dominating the canopy. Thinning the canopy by removing some existing trees 

may also be necessary. Flowering understory trees could be planted to improve aesthetic value. MDC 

would likely be able to provide cost-share funding for future work as well. 

 

The Cost-Share Process:  Chesterfield is eligible for 50% reimbursement for both invasive species control 

and native grass establishment.  Reimbursable expenses include contractor labor, supplies, and some 

equipment rental/purchase. Non-reimbursable expenses that could be used for your match include 

administrative costs, volunteer or employee labor, and in-kind/donated supplies or equipment. All 

expenses must be documented (receipts/paid invoices submitted to me). Only expenses accrued after the 

agreement is signed are eligible for reimbursement. We could sign an agreement as early as July 2024. All 

work will need to be done and paperwork submitted by the end of April 2025. MDC requires either signage 

at the site or two different publicity measures (social media, website, newsletters). 

 

Next Steps:  MDC’s fiscal year is July 1 – June 30, so that’s the time frame we’d be looking at for this 

project. The contracted invasives species control work would be completed from summer through winter, 

as described for individual species. Seed would be spread in mid/late winter after the completion of 

invasive species treatments. Things we need to get started on include: a map of the area (preferably 

outlining the areas prioritized for work) and an estimated budget. The budget needs to include contractor 

bids for the invasives treatment and native planting costs. Please include any costs expected to be used 

as match. My team strongly likes to see the value of these projects to people, so I welcome information 

on how volunteers may be engaged, educational signage we could put up, etc. 

 

The main contractor who handles this kind of work is Native Landscape Solutions. Other suggestions 

include Americorps STL, DJM, or Confluence Habitats. There are a number of smaller operations as well. 

 

I’m excited by the potential of this project, and look forward to seeing it come together. Please let me 
know if you have any questions.” 



 

 

 
City staff solicited three proposals for removing invasive species and establishing native grasses.   
 
Go Green!   $109,180.33 (one year proposal) 
DJM    $  23,690.00 (one year proposal) 
Native Landscape Solutions $  24,190.00 (year one) 
 
I recommend contracting with Native Landscape Solutions (NLS).  I request it be placed on the next 
PR&A Committee agenda.  If approved, it would then go to City Council as a whole for consideration.  I 
will ask them to appropriate $96,418 to account 119-084-5251 (contractual services) from Parks Fund 
– Fund Reserves for this four-year plan.  If approved, a Purchase Order (PO) would be created, and 
carried over year to year until work is completed.  The NLS proposal in only $500 more than DJM, but 
provides a more comprehensive and multi-year approach based on science, seasonal considerations, 
and professional forest management practices.  NLS also has a great reputation for doing this kind of 
work.  Attached are the three proposals.  According to city purchasing procedures, purchases between 
$10,000-25,000 require City Administrator and Director of Finance & Administration approval.  Please let 
me know if you have any questions. 

Please forward to PR&A Committee for review
and recommendation.

                          2024-6-25

Staff recommendation approved 4-0 by PR&A Committee of Council at July 2, 2024
meeting.

7-5-24













playground

Vets
Honor
Park

CFAC



Vets
Honor
Park

playgroundCFAC



Vets
Honor
Park

playgroundCFAC



46,328 square feet

playground

lake

CFAC



playgroundCFAC

Vets
Honor
Park











Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd
Kn

ol
l

Bo
x 

O
ffi

ce
O

ve
rlo

ok

La
ke

 S
W

 A
pr

on

Sc
ul

pt
ur

e 
R

ip
ar

ia
n

W
oo

dl
an

d

Aq
ua

tic
 C

en
te

r A
pr

on

pl
ay

gr
ou

nd

Ve
ts

H
on

or
Pa

rk



PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Chair:  Councilmember Aaron Wahl 
Vice Chair: Councilmember Merrell Hansen  

 
 

A. Proposed Resolution No. 500 – Flock Camera Installation:  The Public 

Health and Safety Committee recommends approval of the proposed 
resolution which authorizes the execution of an agreement with St. Louis 

County for installation of a Flock camera within St. Louis County Right of 
Way.  (Roll Call Vote) 
 

B. Proposed Bill No. 3511 – Regulation of Hemp Based Products:  The 
Public Health and Safety Committee unanimously endorsed a proposed 

ordinance to restrict the sale of Hemp Derived Intoxicants.  (First & Second 
Reading) 
 

C. Proposed Bill No. 3512 – Regulation of KRATOM products:  The Public 
Health and Safety Committee unanimously endorsed passage of a proposed 
ordinance to restrict the sale of Kratom products to anyone under the age of 

21 unless prescribed by a licensed healthcare provider.  (First & Second 
Reading) 

 
D. Parkway School District SRO Contract:  The Public Health and Safety 

Committee unanimously endorsed the renewal of the agreement for providing 

School Resource Officers.  (Roll Call Vote) 
 

E. Next Meeting – not yet scheduled 
 
NEXT MEETING 

 
The next meeting of the Public Health and Safety Committee is not yet scheduled.  
 

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact Chief 
Cheryl Funkhouser or me prior Monday’s meeting.   

 
 



























REPORT FROM THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR & OTHER ITEMS 
REQUIRING ACTION BY CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

A. Municipal League of Metro St. Louis Annual Dues:  As previously 
instructed, the City Administrator has forwarded the invoice from the 
Municipal League of Metro St. Louis County, in the amount of $7,122 for 

approval.  This membership is included in the 2024 approved budget. (Roll 
Call vote) 

 
B. Wilson Avenue Right of Way Parcel Ten Recommendation to authorize the 

City Administrator to issue payment in the amount of $49,984 and execute all 

necessary right of way and easement documents associated with Parcel Ten of 
the Wilson Avenue Project. (Roll Call Vote) Department of Public Works 
recommends approval.   

 
 

OTHER LEGISLATION 
 

A. Proposed Bill No. 3513 – Estates at Conway: An ordinance providing for the 
approval of a Record Plat and escrow agreements for a 2.14-acre tract of land 
being part of lot 5 of Highland on Conway, Plat 1 for a subdivision zoned “R3” 

Residential District located approximately 0.7 miles southeast  from  the  
intersection  of  Conway  Road  and Chesterfield Parkway East and north of 
Interstate 64 (Ward 2).  (First & Second Reading) Planning Commission 

recommends approval.    

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

There is no unfinished business scheduled for this meeting. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
There is no new business scheduled for this meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 













1 | P a g e  

 

Memorandum 
Department of Public Works 
 

 

TO:   Michael O. Geisel, P.E. 
   City Administrator 
 
FROM:  James A. Eckrich, P.E. 
   Public Works Dir. / City Engineer  
 
DATE:  June 21, 2024  
  
RE: Wilson Avenue Right of Way Parcel Ten  
 

 
As you know, the City of Chesterfield has secured a grant to reconstruct the northern 

portion of Wilson Avenue.  Design was completed earlier this year and we are 
currently in the right of way acquisition phase, with construction expected to 
commence in 2025 or 2026.  While the City must pay all costs associated with project 

design, right of way, and construction engineering, the Surface Transportation 
Program (STP) grant will fund up to $1,143,170 of the estimated $1,633,100 
construction cost.  The 2024 City of Chesterfield Budget includes $310,000 in 

Account 120-079-5261 for Wilson Avenue right of way. 
 

Prior to generating a bid package and advertising for bids, the City must acquire right 
of way, permanent drainage easements, and temporary easement from ten parcels.  
When acquiring right of way, the City must adhere to all requirements of the Uniform 

Act (federal law) and MODOT.  This includes full appraisals, with an appraisal review, 
for any property where the acquisition is complex and/or the value exceeds $25,000.  

Accordingly, we conducted appraisals, including an appraisal review, for six of the 
ten properties.   The estimated total value of the land needed for the Wilson Avenue 
Project, including all right of way, permanent drainage easements, and temporary 

easements from all ten impacted parcels, is $255,000. 
 
Thus far we have successfully negotiated property acquisition from two of the ten 

property owners.  The first property was acquired for $2,705, an amount that did not 
require Council approval.  The second property, parcel 10, contains a significant 

amount of right of way which we acquired for a total cost of $49,984.  Because this 
property acquisition is in excess of $25,000 it does require City Council 
authorization. 

 
For additional details regarding the project and the property acquisition, please see 
the attached memorandum from Senior Civil Engineer Jeff Paskiewicz.  Note that 

there are eight more properties from which we need right of way, four of which will 



2 | P a g e  

 

cost in excess of $25,000.  Accordingly, City Council can expect to see similar 
requests for the approval of right of way acquisition from those properties in the near 

future.   
 

 
Action Recommended 
 

This matter should be forwarded to City Council for the approval of a budgeted 
expenditure in excess of $25,000.  Should City Council concur with Staff’s 
recommendation, it should authorize the City Administrator to issue payment in the 

amount of $49,984 and execute all necessary right of way and easement documents.   



 
 
Memorandum 
Department of Public Works 
 
 

TO:  Jim Eckrich, Director of Public Works/City Engineer  

 
FROM: Jeff Paskiewicz, Senior Civil Engineer 
 
DATE: June 20, 2024 
  
RE:  Wilson Ave Improvement Project (2021-PW-14) 
  Right-of-Way and Easement Compensation 
  Parcel 10 – 1204 Walnut Hill Farm Drive 
 

 
As you are aware, the City will be reconstructing Wilson Avenue from Wild Horse 
Creek Road to Walnut Hill Farm Drive and constructing a new asphalt overlay from 

Walnut Hill Farm Drive to approximately 1,200 feet south to the Wilson Avenue 
culvert.  As part of the project, land acquisition in the form of right-of-way, 

permanent easements, and temporary construction easements will be necessary from 
ten parcels.  Per Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) requirements for 
local public agency land acquisition, six of the parcels require appraisals and review 

appraisals completed by a certified appraiser.  Appraisals and review appraisals were 
completed for these six parcels and compensation amounts have been determined. 

We anticipate the total compensation amount for all ten parcels, based on appraisals 

and prior to negotiations, to be $255,000.  The 2024 budget contains $310,000 for 
the necessary property acquisition.  The anticipated individual compensation amount 

for five of the ten parcels will be over $25,000 each and will require City Council 
approval.  The anticipated compensation for the remaining five parcels will be under 
$25,000 each.  Those do not require City Council approval. 

To date, staff has acquired easements from one parcel and compensation has been 
made as it was under the $25,000 threshold.  Parcel 10 is the first parcel where we 

have successfully acquired all right-of-way and easements in an amount over 
$25,000.  The remaining four parcels, with compensation amounts in excess of 
$25,000, will also be submitted to City Council for approval at a later date once final 

negotiations have occurred.    

In order to construct the project a temporary construction easement, permanent 
drainage easement, and right-of-way are needed from parcel 10.  A breakdown of the 

compensation amount is listed on the following page. 



Parcel 10 – 1204 Walnut Hill Farm Drive 
 
 
 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

Easement Type Area (SF) $/SF Cost 

Temporary 
Construction 

Easement 

18,720 $0.30 $5,616 

Permanent Drainage 

Easement 

2,297 $0.75 $1,723 

Right-of-Way 28,430 $1.50 $42,645 

                 Total:   $49,984 

Staff has successfully negotiated with the owner of parcel 10 and the easement and 

right-of-way  documents were signed on June 13, 2024.  The documents will be 
recorded upon payment to the property owner.  Copies of the signed documents are 
attached. 

It is my recommendation that request for compensation for the temporary 
construction easement, permanent drainage easement, and right-of-way associated 

with Parcel 10, in the amount of $49,984, be placed on a City Council agenda for 
their approval.   

If approved by City Council, payment can be processed from fund 120-079-5261 in 

the amount of $49,984 and made payable to the “Steven and Kelly Abraham”. 

 

Attachment:  Executed Easement Documents 

 

Cc:  Zach Wolff, Assistant City Engineer 



























Memorandum  
Department of Planning  
 

To:  Michael O. Geisel, City Administrator 
 

From: Justin Wyse, Director of Planning  
 

Date:  July 15, 2024 
 

RE:  Estates at Conway: A Record Plat for a 2.14-acre tract of land being part 

of Lot 5 of Highland on Conway, Plat 1 for a subdivision zoned “R3” 
Residential Zoning District located approximately 0.7 miles southeast from 

the intersection of Conway Road and Chesterfield Parkway East and north 
of Interstate 64 (Ward 2). 

 

Summary 
Azack Construction, on behalf of Conway 14880, LLC, has submitted a Record Plat for 

a 2.14-acre tract of land zoned conventional “R3” Residential Zoning District. The 
Record Plat would establish six (6) single-family residential lots in addition to common 
ground, easements, and right-of-way. There are no proposed amenities for this 

subdivision. Once a plat has been approved and recorded, the new lots may be sold to 
individual owners. The Record Plat conforms to the amended Preliminary Plat that was 
approved by the City in 2022. The application was reviewed by Planning Commission 

on April 8, 2024 and the Commission made a recommendation to approve, as 
presented. 

 
The required construction and maintenance deposit agreements have been included in 
the packet for review by City Council, and the accompanying construction and 

maintenance sureties have been received. Staff has reviewed this proposed Record Plat 
and found it to be in compliance with the City’s Unified Development Code and “R3” 
Residential Zoning District regulations, substantially conforms to the approved 

Preliminary Plat, and has met the criteria to be reviewed by City Council. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 



Estates at Conway  City Council Memo  

Record Plat  July 15, 2024 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 



BILL NO.                       ORDINANCE NO.______________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE APPROVAL OF A RECORD PLAT AND 

ESCROW AGREEMENTS FOR A 2.14-ACRE TRACT OF LAND BEING PART 

OF LOT 5 OF HIGHLAND ON CONWAY, PLAT 1 FOR A SUBDIVISION ZONED 

“R3” RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT LOCATED APPROXIMATELY 0.7 MILES 

SOUTHEAST FROM THE INTERSECTION OF CONWAY ROAD AND 

CHESTERFIELD PARKWAY EAST AND NORTH OF INTERSTATE 64 (WARD 

2). 

 

 WHEREAS, Azack Construction, on behalf of Conway 14880, LLC, has 

submitted for review and approval a Record Plat for a 2.14-acre tract of land 

being part of Lot 5 of Highland on Conway, Plat 1 for a subdivision zoned “R3” 

Residential District located approximately 0.7 miles southeast from the 

intersection of Conway Road and Chesterfield Parkway East and north of 

Interstate 64 (Ward 2); and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the purpose of said Record Plat is to subdivide a 2.14 acre 

tract of land into six (6) lots and common ground; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, having considered the said request, 

recommended approval by a vote of 6-0; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council, having considered said request, voted to 

approve the Record Plat. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CHESTERFIELD, ST. LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1. The Record Plat and escrow agreements for Estates at Conway 

Record Plat which is made part hereof and attached hereto as “Exhibit 1” is 

hereby approved; provided, however, that nothing in this ordinance shall be 

construed or interpreted as an acceptance of the public utilities or public 

easement which are dedicated on the Record Plat. The owner is directed to record 

the plat with the St. Louis County Recorder of Deeds Office. 

Consulting Engineers 

 Section 2. The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized and directed to 

evidence the approval of said Record Plat by affixing their signatures and the 

Official Seal of the City of Chesterfield as required on said documents.  

 



Section 3. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage and approval.  

 

 Passed and approved this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 

   

_____________________________    _____________________________ 

    PRESIDING OFFICER        Bob Nation, MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Vickie McGownd, CITY CLERK 

 
 

FIRST READING HELD: __07/15/2024_______ 


















































	Estates at Conway
	2024 Wilson Avenue Right of Way Parcel 10
	2024-7-5 Dues Invoice
	Parkway School District SRO Contract
	Regulation of Sales Of KRATOM Products
	Regulation of Sales of Hemp Based Products
	Resolution for approving FLOCK Camera
	memo Central Park forest mgmt plan NLS proposal 2024-2027
	memo CFAC replacement strategy MOG
	memo MUNI grant resolution Central Park playground replacement
	FSP 60-2024 VERIZON (13703 Olive Blvd)
	P.Z. 04-2024 The Smokehouse
	2024-06 Excess Checks Report
	2024-06-17 City Council Minutes
	2024-6-25 Insurance Damage compilation for packet
	2024-07-01 CHLPC FA Memo
	Proclamation -Cicardi Bruce Jr.
	06-20-2024 Planning and Public Works Committee Minutes



